Course: SKOM12

Term: Spring 2024 Supervisor: Mats Heide

Examiner: Marlene Wiggill

Interdisciplinary Listening: Understanding Strategic Listening in Interdisciplinary Project Work CHRISTINE HELLING

Lund University
Department of Strategic Communication
Master's Thesis



Interdisciplinary Listening: Understanding Strategic Listening in interdisciplinary project work

Active listening is of utmost importance for interdisciplinary project work to ensure communication across disciplinary boundaries. To listen actively enables fostering a project climate, in which creative and innovative thinking as well as speaking up freely is supported by contributing to a psychologically safe environment. Despite the potential of active listening to enhance interdisciplinary project communication, listening is an often-neglected part of internal communication. From a social constructionist and internal communication perspective, this study explores the hinders of listening in interdisciplinary project work and investigates how strategic listening practices among project staff can contribute to creating psychological safety in interdisciplinary projects. Methodologically, the research problem is explored through qualitative interviews with researchers who are members of interdisciplinary projects. The findings outline six identified themes of hinders to listening in interdisciplinary project work: (1) a lack of interest and reason, (2) a lack of taking other perspectives, (3) a lack of interactive expertise, (4) a lack of prerequisites for social interactions, (5) a lack of functioning leadership as well as (6) a lack of psychological safety within the group. The six themes were discussed to further group into two categories: reward-driven hinders and cost-increasing hinders. Moreover, active listening contributes to a psychologically safe project climate by (1) appreciating and validating each other, (2) showing acceptance, and respect, as well as (3) building personal connections. Insights into how project members decide to listen and to speak up, as well as why they are hindered could be gained through a social exchange theory perspective. This thesis highlights the importance of active listening in interdisciplinary project work due to its impact on relationships and the team climate. Additionally, qualitative deepened insights into how listening contributes to psychological safety could be generated. A new perspective of strategic interdisciplinary listening could be added to the research field of strategic communication.

Keywords: strategic listening, interdisciplinary listening, interdisciplinarity, interdisciplinary projects, psychological safety, project communication, project climate

Word count: 19.999

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to express my gratitude toward all the participants, who were so kind to give me one hour of their time, as well as to Mats Heide as my supervisor, who supported me throughout the process of my master's thesis with his expertise. Also, I would like to thank my "emotional support group" of fellow students and friends who accompanied me during various writing and thinking processes on campus.

I am deeply grateful and appreciative of the continuous support from my close friends and especially from my partner throughout this challenging chapter of my studies. Sharing this path with my partner and finding mutual support during our studies makes me incredibly proud of us as a team. I greatly appreciate your kind and encouraging words as well as your patience with me. Lastly, I would like to thank my family, who supported and enabled me to take on this beautiful opportunity of studying abroad. A special thanks to my grandpa, who enthusiastically encouraged me to go on this amazing journey in Sweden from the very beginning.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Literature Review	5
Strategic listening	5
Psychological safety and listening practices	
Emergence of psychological safety through listening practices	
Listening practices and psychological safety in interdisciplinary groups	8
Chapter 3: Social Exchange Theory	12
Reinforcement tools of social exchange	
Resources	
Rewards and costs	
Mechanisms of social exchange: evaluating outcomes	15
Relations in social exchange	16
Reciprocity: Sustaining social exchange	17
Summary	18
Chapter 4: Methodology	19
Research approach	19
Qualitative interviews	
Purposive sampling	
Collection of empirical material	23
Ethical considerations and reflections	24
Chapter 5: Findings & Analysis	26
Hinders of listening	
Lack of interest and reason	
Lack of taking other perspectives	
Lack of interactive expertise	
Lack of prerequisites for social interactions Lack of functioning leadership in discussions	
Lack of psychological safety within the group	
Connecting listening and psychological safety	
Appreciation and validation	
Acceptance and respect	
Building personal connections	

Chapter 6: Concluding Discussion	46
Contributions to theory	48
Implications for practice	49
Suggestions for further research	51
Reference List	52
Appendix A: Interview Guide	60
Appendix B: Information Sheet and Consent Form	63

Chapter 1: Introduction

Interdisciplinary communication is a vital skill that researchers need to effectively work together across disciplines when tackling complex problems (Dahm et al., 2019). However, interdisciplinary work alone cannot guarantee the emergence of innovation, though, it can be a base for creative approaches to a new field (Weingart, 2000, as cited in Schmitt et al., 2023). Living in the age of super complexity, where societies face multifaceted problems and require the collaboration of experts from various disciplines, interdisciplinary communication becomes "a core skill for scientists and, when done well, (it) can have a profound impact" (Dahm et al., 2019, p. 1). Thus, effective communication is needed to navigate through societies' interdisciplinary challenges.

Yet, interdisciplinary teamwork and communication are challenging (Marzano et al., 2006). To work interdisciplinary requires cross-functional and interdisciplinary communication to enable making sense of other perspectives and to bridge knowledge from various disciplines despite the tradition-based boundaries of communication within a discipline (Schmitt et al., 2023). Moreover, in teamwork, the team must navigate through high complexity besides the team's existence being temporarily limited, boundaries being fluid, and pre-existing organizational structures being brought into the team's dynamics (Edmondson & Nembhard, 2009). Therefore, communication and conflict management skills, as well as interpersonal and emotional competencies are needed to build productive relationships, learn, resolve conflicts, face decisions, as well as to question oneself, and "inquire into others' thinking with genuine interest" (Edmondson & Nembhard, 2009, p. 132). Hence, interdisciplinarity is also a social practice, which creates communication challenges and requires communication (Marzano et al., 2006; Schmitt et al., 2023). Good listening practices are needed to overcome these challenges and to enable a mutual understanding based on dialogue for productive work (Létourneau, 2021) despite individuals' backgrounds, levels of experience, and academic degrees. Consequently, to overcome challenges, interdisciplinary communication challenges must be counteracted. Therefore, hinders of listening, must be further understood.

Active listening is one of the key aspects of good science communication in verbal and written form because active listening ensures understanding others' thoughts without imposing

own assumptions (Dahm et al., 2019). Moreover, through listening, accepting, and recognizing each other by empathically engaging in dialogue, individuals can be vulnerable and take risks in the workplace (Lemon, 2019). So, listening in interdisciplinary teamwork is important on a content level to understand issues from various perspectives, as well as on a functional level to foster a productive team dynamic. Positive effects of focusing on dialogue and listening in dialogue such as feeling heard, respected, and encouraged to open up (Lemon, 2019; Dahm et al., 2019), align with Edmondson's (2019) and Clark's (2020) understanding of the concept of psychological safety.

Following Edmondson's (2019) and Clark's (2020) understanding, an environment is psychologically safe, when people feel free to take risks and express themselves. Then, individuals do not fear judgment or other negative consequences for expressing thoughts, and ideas, and therefore, do not hold back (Kahn, 1990). Feeling psychologically safe in the workplace can be a key to unlocking a person's potential (Edmondson, 2019), and fostering creativity (Rogers, 1953), as well as innovation at work (Clark, 2020). So, active listening is a practice that contributes to a psychologically safe environment (Kluger & Itzchakov, 2021), in which fruitful and innovative interdisciplinary project work can take place. Consequently, it becomes evident that active listening and the concept of psychological safety are connected, and most importantly, that both are needed for encountering additional challenges and ensuring effective communication in interdisciplinary project work.

However, research on psychological safety focuses on enabling individuals to speak up. The role of the listener falls short, even though listening practices are valuable in reducing interpersonal anxiety, as well as supporting a sense of psychological safety (Castro et al., 2016; Castro et al., 2018; Itzchakov et al., 2015; Itzchakov & Kluger, 2017), unlocking organizational productivity, preventing damages to performance, as well as improving relationships (Edmondson, 2019; Lewis, 2022, Heide & Svingstedt, 2024). The assumption that listening is merely a soft skill or a character trait, and not perceived as valuable for one's own career in practice are reason for the frequent neglect of a listening perspective in the workplace (Heide & Svingstedt, 2024). Yet, when listening is neglected, it also holds the power to put relationships and the internal climate at risk (Heide & Svingstedt, 2024). When people do not feel heard, they can be hindered to engage and speak freely. In interdisciplinary work, they can be hindered from discussing beyond the boundaries of their own discipline and thus, the benefits of working interdisciplinary cannot be realized. Therefore, the common neglect of listening in research and practice must change. Given the current underemphasis on the role of listening within psychological safety and considering the vast potential of psychologically safe work environments

regarding engagement and well-being in practice, listening will be further explored in this thesis.

Moreover, research on speaking up and listening, such as through strategic listening, which describes "the relationship-oriented, goal-oriented, and systematized listening of organizations that creates the conditions for successful operations" (Heide & Svingstedt, 2024, xii), predominantly focuses on external relationships and listening to different publics (cf. Place, 2022; Macnamara, 2016; Brandt, 2023; Men et al., 2022), or on dyadic internal relationships between a superior, such as a manager or leader, and a subordinate, such as an employee or a student (Jónsdóttir & Fridriksdottir, 2019; Cardon et al., 2019; Lloyd et al., 2015, Kriz et al., 2021; Sharifirad, 2013), where power dynamics are at play. Whereas the impacts of hierarchies on communication and professional relationships have been largely explored, and solutions for enhanced communication across hierarchies have been found, the hinders of listening between coworkers as well as the connection between co-worker communication and psychological safety remain unexplored. However, the importance of mutual listening within a team for enhanced dialogue, team climate, and relationships is evident (Dahm et al., 2019; Lemon, 2019; Edmondson, 1999). Therefore, gaining deepened insights into listening in groups from a co-worker communication perspective is needed.

A social constructionist perspective on listening between coworkers can reveal how coworkers as communicators produce and reproduce an organization (Heide, 2024). Then, it can be understood how coworker communication can contribute to producing and reproducing a climate that is characterized by active listening and psychological safety, as well as how these concepts interconnect. Thus, project groups, which are characterized by individuals collaborating without being separated by hierarchical levels, are studied.

To learn about listening within project groups, interdisciplinary project groups are of special interest due to the high need for effective, unhindered listening in interdisciplinarity (Létourneau, 2021) as well as high psychological safety in diverse groups (Bresman & Edmondson, 2022). Additionally, there is a strong need for psychologically safer environments for individuals working in academia. Hanitzsch et al. (2024) point towards mental health issues being especially a widespread issue among academics, with a significantly higher prevalence than in other professions. Due to academia reproducing professional stigma that prevents academics from following their needs and from taking breaks from work (Mantler et al., 2021), it is of utmost importance to find strategies which contribute to fostering psychologically safer work environments for academics. Following the pandemic, researchers and experts agree that there is a general need for enhancing employees' psychological well-being by changing the

organizational environment (Walden, 2021; Pounsford et al., 2024; Wong & Greenwood, 2023; Bhatti & Roulet, 2023; Wong et al., 2023; Fleming, 2024; Simunjak & Menke, 2023).

The project groups studied consist of various researchers from different disciplinary backgrounds who collaborate on finding novel research approaches to complex research problems, which are of an interdisciplinary nature. The concept of the studied project groups does not require working toward a tangible goal but rather stipulates a process of interdisciplinary knowledge exchange to find new research approaches to the research problem. Therein, listening is needed to ensure meeting the projects' goals by fostering exchange. To gain insights into listening as well as into listening in connection to psychological safety within the project groups, individual project members were interviewed and asked about their individual experiences in interdisciplinary project work.

This thesis aims to understand listening to enhance coworker experiences in project work. Therefore, the focus lies on the understanding the hinders of listening as well as the connection between listening practices in the group and individuals' psychological safety for further engagement in group communication. Thus, the topic is approached from the internal coworker perspective of the group members, exploring their personal experiences with listening in interdisciplinary group work. New knowledge on the hinders of listening and the connection between listening practices and psychological safety in interdisciplinary group work settings shall be generated and added to research on listening within the field of strategic communication. Moreover, by exploring the research problem and further understanding the vast potential of active listening to contribute to an environment that fosters creativity and innovation, connects people, and positively contributes to well-being, theoretical and practical implications to strategically reshape internal project communication can be found.

To explore the research problem, first, an overview of existing relevant research is given. Second, applicable components of social exchange theory, which help to understand communication behavior between individuals are outlined. After defining how the study is approached and motivating as well as reflecting on the methods used to collect the empirical material, the analysis is presented in the fifth chapter. Lastly, the results are discussed, theoretical and practical implications are outlined, and thoughts on further research are given.

Within this thesis, the following research questions will be explored:

RQ1: What hinders listening in interdisciplinary project work?

RQ2: How can strategic listening practices among project members contribute to creating psychological safety in interdisciplinary projects?

Chapter 2: Literature Review

In the following chapter, an overview of relevant research regarding strategic listening, psychological safety, and interdisciplinary teamwork is given. First, recent research on strategic listening including dominant orientations and perspectives is presented. In the second section, an understanding of how listening and psychological safety relate to each other and how psychological safety emerges is given. Lastly, listening, and psychological safety are being explored in research on interdisciplinary group work.

Strategic listening

Strategic listening often relates to public relations practices, aiming at exploring listening to understand different publics and establishing organizational channels to do so (Place, 2022; Macnamara, 2016; Brandt, 2023; Men et al., 2022). However, strategic listening also aims to use listening "to improve the organization, create dialogue, and develop mutually beneficial relationships internally and externally" (Heide & Svingstedt, 2024, p. 67). Organizational listening uses attributes of quality interpersonal listening, meaning that dialogue beyond merely information exchange emerges and relationships can be built (Macnamara, 2020, as cited in Worthington & Bodie, 2023). Yet, "organizational listening appears to center around learning and information acquisition" (Worthington & Bodie, 2023, p. 15), preventing mistakes and learning from stakeholders (Lewis, 2022; Macnamara, 2016), to successfully maneuver periods of change (Sahay, 2023; Lewis, 2011), and to enhancing organizational culture (Heide & Svingstedt, 2024) including the practice of listening from managers and leaders (Jónsdóttir & Fridriksdottir,, 2019; Cardon et al., 2019; Lloyd et al., 2015, Kriz et al., 2021). Even though strategic listening holds great potential to improve and prevent damage to organizations (Lewis, 2022) and is highly relevant to research from a leadership perspective, the perspective of listening to build and improve internal relationships among coworkers is missing. This study focuses solely on listening in coworker relationships to understand listening and psychological safety in teams.

Psychological safety and listening practices

Even though Rogers already mentioned empathic understanding as a necessity for achieving psychological safety in 1953 and good listening practices are referred to as a needed skill for leaders to foster psychological safety in organizations (Pounsford et al., 2024; Edmondson, 2019; Heide & Svingstedt, 2024), research explicitly connecting psychological safety and listening practices remains sparse (Castro et al., 2018). Research on psychological safety is frequently situated in the healthcare sector (Nembhard & Edmondson, 2006; Nembhard et al., 2015; Edmondson et al., 2001; Tucker, 2007; Jain et al., 2016), where mistakes can be crucial and psychological safety is of utmost importance. Furthermore, psychological safety is being discussed in connection to learning behavior (Edmondson, 1999; Edmondson et al., 2001, Tucker et al., 2007), performance in organizations (Bresman & Edmondson, 2022; Edmondson, 2019; Cappelli & Eldor, 2024), and organizational culture including leadership (Carucci, 2023; Agarwal & Anantatmula, 2023), inclusion and diversity (Bresman & Edmondson, 2022; Gube & Sabatini Hennely, 2022) and team well-being (Dusenberry & Robinson, 2020). Perspectives from research in psychology and management are pre-dominant among researchers. In the following, an understanding of existing research on the relationship between listening practices and psychological safety will be given.

Listening and psychological safety in interpersonal relationships

Listening is also a vital part of building and maintaining relationships. Brunner (2008) points out that listening is a key element in trust, satisfaction, commitment, and control mutuality. Organizational listening entails interpersonal characteristics such as "awareness and attention, recognition, understanding, supportiveness, and responding" (Worthington & Bodie, 2023, p. 16). Cooper (1997) points towards a model of listening which consists of (1) listening behaviors that confirm the message (accuracy) and (2) listening behaviors that affirm the speaker (support) (p. 79). General listening competency entails both accuracy and support. Then, the listener can tell apart facts from opinions, analyze, remember information, give attention to the speaker, show involvement, and make the speaker comfortable and undistracted (Cooper, 1997).

Leadership plays an important role in internal communication and listening because leadership is intertwined with employee voice. So, employees are more likely to contribute their knowledge, and experience, as well as the need for listening to employees speaking up, when being listened to by superiors (Pounsford et al., 2024). Pounsford et al. summarize various

organizational benefits from listening to employees such as higher performance, improved customer service as customer needs are better understood, new ideas, and innovation, better insight and understanding of current processes, and more flexibility and adaptability making the organization flexible to change. Moreover, job insecurity can be reduced due to feeling a higher sense of situational control (Kriz et al., 2021). Neill and Bowen (2021) point out the importance of an intact feedback loop in building personal relationships and trust with coworkers, so that coworkers are willing to speak up about concerns. However, when coworkers do not receive feedback on their shared thoughts, coworkers' trust and commitment may diminish (Andersson et al., 2023).

Pounsford et al. (2024) point towards positive employee experiences as results of listening such as: feeling like the organization and leaders care, more engagement, trust, and motivation to engage, being more aligned with the company, having one's needs understood in terms of career development as well as wellness, and more effective communication which is more empathetic in messaging and addresses employees' concerns (p. 31). Likewise, active listening by managers can enhance their own well-being (Jónsdóttir & Fridriksdottir, 2019), making active listening in the workplace a mutually beneficial experience for the speaker, the listener, and the organization. Thus, active listening can become strategic listening, entailing a participatory character with benefits for all sides (Macnamara, 2016).

Emergence of psychological safety through listening practices

From a practical point of view, Bhutti and Roulet (2023) emphasize that listening and responding empathically as a relationship-building and culture-shaping communication skill must be added to the toolbox of managers and leaders. Active listening behavior, and psychological safety both serve as mediators on the effect of transformational leadership on employees' well-being (Sharifirad, 2013). When leaders are listening, a climate of psychological safety can emerge, and employees feel free to speak up (Pounsford et al., 2024).

Lewis (2022) highlights that "you can create psychological safety by choosing to listen actively to what people say and by responding with interest, building on their ideas, or giving feedback" (p. 199). Rogers (1953) and Sharifirad (2013) state that understanding empathically can contribute to the feeling of psychological safety. Fenniman (2010) also finds a connection between employees being listened to by their supervisors and higher self-psychological safety. Relating to psychological safety, Kluger and Itzchakov (2021) explored the state of togetherness, which can be achieved through listening and result in increased well-being and attachment

to the conversational partner. They point out that listening benefits both, the listener, and the speaker (Kluger & Itzchakov, 2021). Moreover, inner conflicts can be prevented from arising within the speaker when being listened to actively (DeMarree et al., 2023). The speaker is more likely to engage in self-reflection. When the listener is listening poorly, however, subjective ambivalence is met with the need to be resolved (DeMarree et al., 2023). Tangirala and Ramanujam (2012) discover correlations between manager consultation including listening practices with upward employee voice, as the desired outcome of psychological safety. Likewise, Castro et al. (2016) as well as Itzchakov and Kluger (2017), succeeded in observing an impact on psychological safety through a change in listening practices. Fenniman (2010) points out that a supervisor's intention to listen openly leads to the supervisor "being perceived by the subordinate as having a higher level of psychological safety" (p. 125). Furthermore, supervisors can contribute to a subordinate's psychological safety by being and acting sensitive to face threats, that evoke negative emotions and result in appearing less desirable to others (Tynan, 2005). On the contrary, when leaders engage in abusive behaviors and psychological safety declines, coworkers' motivation to share knowledge will decline (Agarwal & Anantatmula, 2023). The reviewed literature on listening and psychological safety in an organizational context focuses on relationships between a manager/leader/supervisor and a subordinate/employee/customer. Thus, the power dynamics and hierarchical relationships must be considered when discussing the concept.

Listening practices and psychological safety in interdisciplinary groups

The concept and potential of psychological safety in organizational settings are well explored, however, the focus is predominantly on hierarchical relationships, for instance between managers/leaders and employees. However, the concept is important for shaping group dynamics and enhancing the functioning of individuals working together such as in project work as well. The phenomenon of team psychological safety describes a team climate that fosters mutual respect and trust between team members so that individuals are free to express and be themselves (Edmondson, 1999). Therefore, it is a socially constructed group phenomenon describing the "shared belief held by members of a team that the team is safe for interpersonal risk taking" (Edmondson, 1999, p. 354). Dusenberry and Robinson (2020) state that open conversations in teams to establish team goals and norms are essential and that increasing psychological safety demands not only communicating about psychological safety but also having

psychological safety-building activities in alignment with team tasks. Moreover, the researchers point out that team duration and team context heavily impact the team's well-being (Dusenberry & Robinson, 2020). Hence, relationships and climate within the team are of importance. Regarding project work this means, that the project work culture must allow and encourage psychological safety to emerge, to profit from the benefits of psychologically safe work environments. Due to the focus on organizational relationships across hierarchies, how listening in team communication and psychological safety are connected is an understudied subject.

Challenges in interdisciplinary (interprofessional) teamwork are the complex nature of the project, communicating across functions, the temporality of team membership, fluid team boundaries, organizational structures which shine through in teamwork (Edmondson & Nembhard, 2009), the need to continuously question the self-image of disciplines as well as their interoperability (Schmitt et al., 2023). Edmondson and Nembhard (2009) highlight that communication and conflict management skills are important to overcome challenges since they are needed to build productive relationships, learn about others' goals and interests, resolve conflicts, and face difficult decisions. Dahm et al. (2019) highlight that interdisciplinary communication is a vital skill that scientists need to effectively work together across disciplines when tackling complex problems. Living in the age of super complexity, where societies face multifaceted problems that need the collaboration of experts from various disciplines, interdisciplinary communication becomes "a core skill for scientists and, when done well, can have a profound impact" (Dahm et al., 2019, p. 40). They moreover point towards active listening as one of the key aspects of good science communication in verbal and written form. With active listening, it can be made sure, that what was heard aligns with what was said (Dahm et al., 2019). Active listening thus involves also asking questions, asking for clarification, summarizing, and keeping an open mind to avoid imposing own theories and ideas on what others are saying (Dahm et al., 2019; Heide & Svingstedt, 2024).

Another practice Dahm et al. (2019) mention is focusing on dialogue, not debate. Then, an open "space for creative exploration of issues" (p. 41), where individuals feel heard, respected, and encouraged to open up, can emerge. To create a dialogical communication culture dialogical communication must be continuously practiced. Then, a base on which collegial and collaborative communication can take place is given (O'Rourke et al., 2023). From a neuroscientific perspective the researchers point out that to make sense of different mental conceptualizations of a situation, neuronal interconnections must be strengthened through effective communication to explore differences and derive a shared understanding (O'Rourke et al., 2023). Moreno-Cély et al. (2021) point out that "dialogue discourse constitutes a form of governance

in which knowledge, power, and subjectivities end up reducing the possibilities of an inclusive dialogue where all kinds of being and knowledge are recognized and equally valuable" (p. 920). Moreover, Moreno-Cély et al. (2021) highlight that dialogue is needed to tackle underlying power-structures in discourse. Thus, the researchers propose the circle of dialogue of wisdom as a framework resulting from collective reflexivity, focusing on a listening-based dialogue and the coexistence of multiple knowledge systems (Moreno-Cély et al., 2021). Therefore, the framework is highly relevant to any interdisciplinary work, "where power relations affect collaboration and in co-creation spaces that involve different knowledge systems" (p. 929).

Studying employee engagement, Lemon (2019) points out the importance of active listening within dialogue, as active listening creates openness, and transparency, where people feel heard and ideas are valued, which responds to speaking up and taking part in meaning-making. Moreover, she points out, that active listening is a necessary element of dialogue and hence, of employee engagement. Active listening and face-to-face communication in dialogue create a context, on which meaningful engagement can be built (Lemon, 2019). By accepting and recognizing each other by empathically engaging in dialogue, individuals can be vulnerable and take risks in the workplace (Lemon, 2019). What Lemon (2019) and Dahm et al. (2019) describe as the effects of focusing on dialogue and listening in dialogue, feeling heard, respected, and encouraged to open up, is precisely what Edmondson's (2019) and Clark's (2020) understanding of the concept of psychological safety aims at: creating a psychologically safe space so that people feel free to express themselves, instead of staying silent, and where one can be creative.

Summing up, the literature review demonstrates that listening practices and the emergence of psychological safety are interwoven. It becomes evident that active listening creates a base for enhanced relationships and a dialogical communication climate, on which effective understanding of different perspectives as well as a feeling of psychological safety to speak up freely can emerge. Even though listening is a key element of creating a communication climate in which psychological safety can emerge, only a few researchers have explicitly explored the interconnections of listening practices and psychological safety. In addition, the relevance of psychological safety and active listening practices in interdisciplinary project work could be emphasized through the importance of effective dialogue. Yet, no research could be found that explicitly researches the concept of psychological safety through listening in interdisciplinary project work.

Considering the neglect of the listening perspective in psychological safety as well as the vast potential of psychologically safe work environments to enhance engagement and wellbeing, this thesis will further investigate the hinders of listening behavior as well as how listening behavior and psychological safety are intertwined. Therefore, insights into how listening is performed and perceived, as well as how listening impacts individuals' motivation for further engagement are needed.

Chapter 3: Social Exchange Theory

Some of the latest research regarding inter-organizational relationships use social exchange theory to gain further insights into notions of leader-member relationships regarding (job) satisfaction (March et al., 2023) and engagement (Simbula et al., 2023; Imam et al., 2022), performance achievement (Anwar et al., 2023), information sharing behavior and innovation (Huo et al., 2023), as well as for understanding mentoring activities (Bordogna, 2023). Even though social exchange theory is often used quantitatively to evaluate the importance and effects of various factors in relationships, the theory can also be applied to qualitative research to explore individual experiences with interactions in relationships as well as to identify relevant costs and rewards in certain settings to understand individuals' motivations for interaction. Consequently, social exchange theory helps to understand individuals' experiences with hinders of listening in project work as well as their experiences with speaking up and being listened to. Thus, an overview of social exchange theory is presented in this section.

Social Exchange Theory mainly emerged in sociology during the 1950s from different perspectives by Homans, Thibaut, Kelley, and Blau (Emerson, 1976) as well as Emerson (cf. Cook, 2015) as key figures. Explaining the emergence of the theory, Ekeh (1974) distinguishes between social exchange through two traditions in sociology, the British-American individualistic tradition, shaped by Homans (1958), and the French collectivistic tradition, in which anthropologist Lévi-Strauss (1949) is a key figure. From the French collectivistic perspective individuals engage in social action by contributing to a greater societal context or a group, whereas the British-American tradition sees the "individual self-interests, wishes, and desires as a motive force in social action" (Ekeh, 1974, p. 13). Whereas the French collectivistic view separates social processes from psychological and economic processes, the British-American perspectives approach social processes and human behavior through economic and psychological lenses. The two approaches to social exchange theory did not evolve isolated from one another but rather grew during a constant enriching interplay (Ekeh, 1974) to advance research on human behavior by combining sociological, economic, and psychological perspectives (Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023).

In the following an overview of how social exchange theory explains interactions is given. The overview takes notice of the main components of social behavior which the theory explains according to Davlembayeva and Alamanos (2023). The presented understanding of social exchange

aligns with the British-American tradition as most scholars referenced primarily built their understanding on the basis of Homan's early work.

Reinforcement tools of social exchange

Social Exchange Theory aims to explain the social behavior of humans alongside four main components of social interactions: reinforcement tools of social exchange, mechanisms of exchange, social exchange relations, and reciprocity of social exchange (Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023). Imam et al. summarize that social exchange is "a joint activity between two or more actors in which each actor finds value" (p. 491). Social exchange requires interaction between at least two parties, who "emit behaviour in each other's presence, (...) create products for each other, or (...) communicate with each other" (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959, p. 10). An individual's desire to engage in social interaction is based on expected rewards or benefits of the exchange enabled by resources, which the exchange demands from an individual. Social exchange theory assumes "that dyad formation is facilitated by the members being able, at low cost to themselves, to provide their partners with high rewards" (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959) implying that one person needs a resource, which another person can provide. Social exchange theory views the relations between individuals "in terms of the primacy of the costs and benefits exchanged in interaction" (Cook, 2015, p. 482).

In social exchange theory, social exchanges are often approached like an "economic analysis of noneconomic social situations" (Emerson, 1976). However, exchange in social contexts is embedded in person-environment relations and thus, differs greatly from the exchange in an economic context, which always happens in the context of a market (Emerson, 1987). The theory "is limited to actions that are dependent on rewarding reactions from others" (Blau, 1964 as cited in Emerson, 1976). Thibaut and Kelley (1959) stress that "most socially significant behavior will not be repeated unless it is reinforced, rewarded in some way" (p. 5) as a premise. Thus, the outcome of an interaction plays a vital role in understanding social behavior through the lens of social exchange. In the following subchapters resources and outcomes including rewards and costs will be explained.

Resources

Foa and Foa (2012) define a resource "as anything that can be transmitted from one person to another" (p. 16). Resources can be of various character. They can be divided into six classes: "love, status, information, money, goods, and service" (Foa & Foa, 2012, p. 16). In the context of this study, information, as well as love, which includes all expressions of affectionate regard including warmth or comfort, are of special interest. Time and space are not considered as resources but rather as prerequisites for the exchange of resources (Foa & Foa, 2012). Resources vary in worth

to an individual based on particularism, and the value to an individual based on concreteness. So, the worth is associated with the resource provider, while the value depends on the degree of a resource's tangibility (Foa & Foa, 2012; Cropanzano & Mitchell, 2005 as cited in Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023). The highest satisfaction of needs is assumed to happen, when individuals have complementary needs and therefore possess the resources to satisfy each others' needs (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). In interdisciplinary project work, information is the predominant resource that is exchanged through communication. By applying social exchange theory to interdisciplinary project work, listening can further be understood as a necessity for enabling the exchange of information as resources.

Rewards and costs

One of the key assumptions in social exchange is that behavior results from the motivation to increase rewards while avoiding costs (Molm, 1997 as cited by Cook, 2015). Thibaut and Kelly (1959) point out that rewards and costs can be measured on a psychological scale, defining how high or low, and thus, how rewarding or costly an interaction is. The outcome can thus be described as rewards received and costs incurred throughout the interaction (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959).

A reward is understood as an outcome that the individual perceives as positive and can be a benefit of either socioemotional or economic kind (Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023). So, positive components as consequences from the interaction are identified as rewards. Rewards are "pleasures, satisfactions, and gratification the person enjoys" (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959, p. 12), which provide means to reduce a drive or fulfill a need. On the contrary, negative components are referred to as costs. How many costs an action incurs depends on the skills and the availability of needed tools or instruments to an individual. Additionally, the degree of discomfort or anxiety emerging from the situation impacts the costs. Thus, other parties within the interaction can heighten an individual's costs by heightening their anxiety through their behavior (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). High costs require great physical or mental effort, come along with negative emotions to action, and/or bring conflicting or competing responses to the interaction. Therefore, costs bring a degree of deterrence to performing an action (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). How high or low costs and rewards are perceived to be is evaluated individually and depends on various factors, as the next subchapters demonstrate.

Mechanisms of social exchange: evaluating outcomes

Social exchange is based on individuals subjectively weighing costs and rewards to decide for or against engaging in exchange (Blau, 2017, as cited in Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023). Within this exchange, meaning is attached to the in- and output, and based on the interpretation of the meaning, whether the outcome is perceived to be positive or negative, the interaction is more costly or more rewarding for the individual. For this evaluation the needed skills and their availability as well as the degree of discomfort that an action is causing the actor must be taken into account. In addition, the receiving person's perception of the behavior directed at him, whether it causes a positive or negative experience, is a vital part of the interaction (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Various factors affect the assignment of meaning, some of which are "the social and cultural context, the interpersonal relationship, the content of the interaction, the actors' values and attitudes, their emotional state, intentions and goals, the valence of the transacted resource, etc." (Törnblom & Kazemi, 2012).

Social interaction is only continued when "the experienced consequences are found to meet the standards of acceptability that both individuals develop by virtue of their experience with other relationships" (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959, p. 10). Such standards are further related to attraction, dependence, and status (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). In addition, "the degree to which the result of the exchange is valuable to a person" (Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023) influences their decision on interaction. Thus, the individual's moral perception of fair exchange, and therefore how costly they perceive specific resources and how beneficial they perceive specific outcomes to be plays a key role in social exchange.

Furthermore, individuals' previous experiences with similar situations as well as their predictions of the value of the outcome resulting from the exchange process influence the decision to engage. So, based on the anticipated outcome further exchange with others is increased or decreased (Ekeh, 1974; Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Due to all parties evaluating the outcome of an interaction, and only engaging in social exchange when the interaction is expected to be rewarding, social exchange is a rewarding process for all parties involved during situations of exchange (Emerson, 1976).

Thibaut and Kelly (1959) point out that "interaction affords many opportunities for response interference to arise" (p. 16), which can interfere with the rewards and costs of an interaction. Interferences in interactions hinder functioning interactions due to interferences making it more likely that responses are performed less well (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). The authors assume that interference occurs in symmetrical relations so that interference of one party comes along with interference from the other party as well. Interferences lead to heightening the costs of producing a response, as well as receiving and processing the content of the response (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Thus,

interferences demand more energy from individuals. Hinders to listening can be understood as interferences to functioning interactions. In contrast to response interferences, factors such as emotional stability and control, adaptability, and tolerance, as well as an attitude of goodwill toward others are considered as factors to keep costs low (Bonney, 1947, as cited in Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Regarding a well-intentioned and supportive attitude Thibaut and Kelley (1959) also summarize that a person agreeing with another person's opinion not only constitutes a reward but also reduces costs by minimizing fears of potentially unacceptable expressions. Consequently, the behavior of all parties involved in the exchange process influences how costly or rewarding an interaction is perceived to be.

Relations in social exchange

Even though the value of the costs and rewards of an interaction highly depend on exogenous factors such as individuals' values, skills, and predispositions to anxiety (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959), pre-existing relations also impact the outcome. Relations are an important component of social exchange due to the influence of social structures and social capital to influence the outcome of interactions. Therefore, the nature of the initial relationship between involved parties, and the larger social and cultural context in which the relations exist must be considered in social exchange, as they significantly influence the assignment of meaning to interactions (Törnblom & Kazemi, 2012). Davlembayeva and Alamanos (2023) point out that social capital can be a factor in restricting as well as facilitating exchange, and likewise also be a reward of relations for instance in the form of enhanced social ties and networks (Wang & Liu, 2019, as cited in Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023). Thibaut and Kelley (1959) also point out that the reward of interaction can be affected by the status of the party of interaction, giving individuals access to rewards that would not be available from associating with people of lower status. However, interactions with individuals within the same social class and status levels are less costly, making these interactions most comfortable (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959).

Hence, regarding relations in social exchange, we must note that not only some relationships are more satisfactory than other relationships, but also some interactions within a pre-existing relationship are more satisfactory than other interactions (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Interactions within a relationship are continued when the relationship is considered to be satisfactory based on the comparison level as "the standard against which the member evaluates the "attractiveness" of the relationship or how satisfactory it is" (p. 21) based on what they feel they "deserve". In addition, the comparison level for alternatives is "the standard the member uses in deciding whether to remain in or to leave the relationship" (p. 21) based on "the lowest level of outcomes a member will accept

in the light of available alternative opportunities" (p. 21). Consequently, pre-existent relationships must be considered as the context in which interactions take place when evaluating how satisfactory interactions are. Yet, interactions within relationships are also evaluated against one's personal standard and against alternative opportunities to interact.

Reciprocity: Sustaining social exchange

The principle of reciprocity refers to "the mutual reinforcement by two parties of each other's actions" (Ekeh, 1974, p. 47). Reciprocity is of importance during the process of motivating engagement in an exchange situation due to the assumption that the favor will be returned (Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023) as well as the longevity of the relation due to the specific timeframe in which the return takes place being uncertain (Molm, 1997, as cited in Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023). Based on reciprocity an interdependence of two or more parties can manifest in mutually rewarding relationships, in which the parties continue to compensate the other for the resources provided (Molm, 2003 as cited in Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023). Therefore, there is an expectation of "payoffs at play" (Iman et al., 2022). However, reciprocations can be mutual between two individuals or univocal between three or more individuals. When the reciprocations are not functioning, so both parties do not likewise receive benefits, ruptures arise due to underlying inequality. However, equality is needed in social interactions to continue and function (Ekeh, 1974).

Ekeh (1974) explains that cooperation, equality, and reciprocity are developed together in relationships when individuals are not divided by their status (Piaget, 1932, as cited in Ekeh, 1974). Still, status non-equals can engage in stable social exchanges, however, this inequality of parties threatens the social exchange situation and thus, makes equality needed for social interactions to continue and function (Ekeh, 1974). Moreover, social exchange can be restricted when individuals focus on avoiding offending the other. Ekeh (1974) describes these restricted exchanges as mechanical solidarity, and brittle in nature. In restricted exchange low trust is involved and thus, an expectation to immediately receive rewards after providing own resources is dominant (Ekeh, 1974). In generalized exchanges, however, the trust of others reciprocating in favor of society rather than self-interest exists (Ekeh, 1974). Ekeh (1974) describes this belief in individuals being credit-worthy and trusted to reciprocate as a credit mentality. Thus, restricted exchange lacks trust, which individuals require to engage in interactions freely. According to Cropanzano and Mitchell (2005, as cited in Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023) and Molm et al. (1999, as cited in Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023) the mechanism of reciprocity in social exchange ensures "more long term and reliable relations through the development of trust, loyalty and mutual commitment" (no page number).

Summary

Summing up, social exchange theory explains how social interactions must be reinforced. Individuals are motivated to engage in social interactions by rewarding outcomes, which are achieved through receiving resources from the other parties involved in social exchange to fulfill their own needs. However, every interaction does not only lead to a reward. The outcome of social interactions is individually determined by the rewards received and the costs induced by interacting. How high or low the rewards and costs are perceived to be depends on one's own interpretation of the meaning attached to rewards and costs as well as on previous experiences, on the relationships with the parties involved, and on the behavior of all individuals throughout social interaction. Lastly, the principle of reciprocity enables sustaining social exchange due to individuals trusting that their costs of interaction will eventually be compensated by receiving rewards from the other parties. However, equal relationships and a degree of mutuality in receiving benefits from social interactions must be given for sustaining relationships.

Chapter 4: Methodology

In this chapter, the research approach, process, and reflections are presented. First, social constructionism is explained to give further insight into how reality is understood as well as how the methodological approach was chosen. Then, the chosen method as well as the sampling of participants are briefly outlined. Furthermore, a guide through the process of the collection of empirical material as well as the approach to analyzing the material is given. Lastly, ethical considerations and reflections are outlined.

Research approach

To encounter the research problem, a qualitative approach was chosen to understand the hinders of listening and the connection between listening and psychological safety. A qualitative approach is most beneficial due to the difficulties of observing or measuring listening (Heide & Svingstedt, 2024) as well as the high subjectivity of psychological safety, since individuals must evaluate themselves, if "the work environment is safe for interpersonal risk taking" (Edmondson, 2019, p. 8). Moreover, the relationship between listening and psychological safety has previously been studied through a quantitative lens (Castro et al., 2016; Castro et al., 2018; Itzchakov et al., 2015; Itzchakov & Kluger, 2017). Thus, applying a qualitative approach will enable me to gain different insights into the connection between listening and psychological safety by understanding how the concepts connect and through which interactions individuals experience it in practice. Thus, by applying a qualitative approach to the research problem, I can gain a closer look at "the lived realities of other people" (Alvesson, 2003). Based on the understanding of interactions through social exchange theory, qualitative interviews enable me to learn about why and how individuals decide to speak up and engage as well as to listen. Through individuals' reflections, insights into this decision process and how listening influences their decisions can be gained.

This study is conducted from a social constructionist epistemological perspective within the interpretive paradigm. From an interpretive perspective, the research problem can be studied as a subject of individuals' everyday lives, as it exists within their "Lebenswelt in which

individuals make sense of the phenomena they encounter" (Prasad, 2018, p. 14). Consequently, the research questions are explored by understanding and analyzing these individual experiences (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Reality is understood as emerging from interactions within these individual experiences. Thus, reality is socially constructed and sustained between the interactions of people as well as "historically and culturally relative" (Burr, 2015, p. 5). What is perceived as knowledge is not dependent on objective observations but is produced within the social processes and interactions, for instance through language, with one another (Burr, 2015). Therefore, individuals' experiences with listening, the hinders of listening, and listening in connection with psychological safety are understood as emerging from social processes. Moreover, social constructionism sees language as having "practical consequences for people that should be acknowledged" (Burr, 2015, p. 11), highlighting the active role of communicating through language. From this understanding, individuals' interactions through communication, including listening to each other, construct knowledge and further consequences. Thus, when researching listening, listening is understood as an interactive practice, which is an essential part of constructing knowledge and reality through social interactions. Moreover, in communicative interaction with individuals, who share their experiences through language, the individual's reality can be constructed and made sense of.

Qualitative interviews

To learn about the project members' experiences with listening and psychological safety in interdisciplinary project work, one-on-one interviews are conducted. In interviews "information and background on issues that cannot be observed or efficiently accessed" (Tracy, 2020, p.79), can be collected. It enables me to gain insights into the individual thoughts, opinions, and experiences of participants as well as reasons and justifications for their opinions (Tracy, 2020). However, interviews do not only serve as tools to collect empirical material but also as social interactions, which are context-dependent and bring distinctive ways of speaking and norms of interaction into the interview situation (Alvesson, 2003). Therefore, a reflection on the statements and an interpretation through an understanding of the context must follow. Moreover, one-on-one interviews can create a psychologically safer space for interviewees to speak their minds due to the absence of other individuals who otherwise could impact the interviewees' answers based on social desirability or groupthink bias. Hence, one-on-one interviews are chosen as a research method as they appear to best gain insights into individuals' perceptions of experiences with listening within interdisciplinary project groups and their perception of

listening and psychological safety in project work. However, it must be considered that interviewees can be dishonest or selectively telling the truth. Additionally, they can be guided by their own or collective interests and expectations.

The interviews are semi-structured and thus are characterized by freedom and flexibility in questions. Aiming to stimulate and not dictate the flow of the interview, the interviewee shall be given the power and freedom to focus on specific themes which they perceive to be most important. By having multiple interviews, rich and thick qualitative empirical material will be collected to explain the phenomenon (Chandra & Shang, 2019). Likewise, it enables me to focus on listening, reflecting, and adapting to gain answers, which possess qualitative depth on content and emotional levels (Tracy, 2020). Consequently, the interview guide serves the purpose of giving an overview of questions and topics that are desired to be covered but should not be seen as a static and completed list of questions. I aimed to navigate freely through the flow of the conversation and pick up on themes, which are of special relevance to the individual interviewee. The interview guide can be found in Appendix A.

Purposive sampling

To identify potential interviewees for the study purposive sampling was used. Therefore, active participation in an interdisciplinary research project was the criterion. For the research groups to meet the criteria of a research project, the definition of projects in DIN 69901-5 was applied. All identified groups meet the criteria to be project-like due to being of unique as well as complex character and being restricted by available resources, personnel, and time (cf. Alam & Gühl, 2016). As stated before in Chapter 2, active listening is required to reach a common ground and to engage in dialogue in interdisciplinary work (Dahm et al., 2019; Lemon, 2019). Therefore, members of interdisciplinary projects are expected to have good insights into listening practices within the group, which is critical for the study. Thus, the project groups were required to be interdisciplinary, so that "two or more academic, scientific, or artistic disciplines" (Merriam-Webster, n.d.) are involved within the project groups.

It was ensured that the project groups met the before-mentioned criteria, and then were selected conveniently. The potential candidates for the interview were identified through Lund University's website, where the selected research projects and the respective project members are listed. Within each project group, the members were contacted in order of the names listed on the website, under the premise that their contact details were available. However, I ensured that interviewees from various groups were found to gain insights into different project

communication dynamics. Consequently, I adjusted how many members were contacted based on positive responses from each group. To conceal the interviewees' identities, their disciplinary background, as well as their roles (if any) in the group, and the project group names are not revealed. The participants will only be referred to as "interviewee #" throughout the study.

Table 1: Overview of interviewees and interview lengths

Interviewee #	Length of the interview
Interviewee 1	74 min.
Interviewee 2	49 min.
Interviewee 3	43 min.
Interviewee 4	49 min.
Interviewee 5	54 min.
Interviewee 6	84 min.
Interviewee 7	48 min.
Interviewee 8	63 min.
Interviewee 9	50 min.
Interviewee 10	64 min.

In total 10 project members from six different interdisciplinary project groups were interviewed. After analyzing the 9th and 10th interview transcripts, theoretical saturation (cf. Glaser & Strauss, 1967) was perceived to be reached as no new themes were emerging from the interview transcripts (cf. Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). As examined by Hennink and Kaiser (2022), saturation can already be reached in a narrow range of nine to 17 interviews. Therefore, no new potential interviewees were contacted after the empirical material was perceived to be saturated.

Due to the interviewees being researchers and likely being familiar with qualitative semi-structured interviews as a method, I must be aware of performance bias. The interviewees may feel performance pressure and therefore amend their behavior and responses accordingly. Especially in academia individuals may protect their "personal, institutional and occupational prestige and reputation" (Alvesson, 2003, p. 170). As it is rarely possible to rule out dishonest or distorted portrayals of experiences from empirical material, interviews pose a risk to capturing the authentic experience (Alvesson, 2003). However, especially to gain insights into how listening can contribute to psychological safety, I must rely on individuals sharing and elaborating on their honest experiences with listening and speaking up, as this phenomenon cannot be understood from an outside perspective. To ensure the quality of the interviews, a

comfortable environment was created in which the interviewees were enabled to share their honest opinions, experiences, and insights. Furthermore, by providing open questions and asking for examples, the interviewees are required to answer freely by reflecting and providing a detailed description of their experiences.

Collection of empirical material

The empirical material for this study consists of ten qualitative semi-structured interviews with researchers who actively take part in interdisciplinary research work. All interviews were conducted between 18th March 2024 and 12th April 2024. Most of the interviews were conducted online through the video conferencing platform Zoom and are therefore synchronous mediated interviews. Interviewing online enabled me to collect the empirical material without the barrier of differing geographic locations. Moreover, the video call can be answered in a comfortable and non-threatening environment (e.g., from home or one's own office), is cost-and time-effective, and still enables taking notice of hesitation, and detecting sudden changes in mimic. Also, mediated approaches make it more likely for individuals to engage and share their thoughts with strangers. However, the decreased availability of nonverbal and embodied communication is a weakness of computer-mediated interviews (Tracy, 2020). However, since the pandemic, digital communication gained importance and become a necessity for many people working in education. Therefore, it can be assumed that conducting interviews digitally via video calls does not feel as impersonal and alienating as it had before 2020.

Before the interview, the interviewees were informed about the topic, the purpose, the procedure, and the potential risks of the research to ensure transparency. To further ensure transparency and quality of the transcripts, the transcriptions are offered to be sent to the interviewees if desired. Additionally, they were informed about matters of confidentiality as well as their rights as participants in the study. Lastly, they were asked for consent to record the interview to transcribe and analyze the empirical material. The information sheet and consent form can be found in Appendix B.

After each interview, I took time to take notes on the main topics and insights of the interview, as well as to reflect on the emotional tone of the interview, which can help to make sense of and interpret the transcripts afterward (cf. Brinkman & Kvale, 2008). Next, I transcribed the recordings into written language and deleted them after finishing the transcription. The empirical material is analyzed by dividing extracts into the respective themes of the two research questions to which they are referring. Then, within the two themes, hinders to listening and the

connection between listening and psychological safety, more themes relevant to answering the research questions were identified by grouping the respective extracts referring to the same phenomenon. By adopting an abductive approach and alternating between describing and analyzing the findings using elements from social exchange theory, the themes could be sorted into overarching categories. The identified categories enable a structured and meaningful interpretation of the findings. To understand how the interviewees view, perceive, and interpret a phenomenon, it is likewise important to acknowledge that my own interpretation of reality will determine the presented findings and the formation of themes and categories. Due to my own personal and social background as well as my expectations and interests, how the empirical material is selected, ordered, and interpreted, is impacted. Therefore, the findings will be influenced by several complex processes (Alvesson & Kärreman, 2011).

Ethical considerations and reflections

Some ethical considerations must be taken during the collection of empirical material due to interviewing for personal experiences and insights which may be of a sensitive kind to some interviewees. To create an environment of well-being for the interviewees, the interviews began with introductory questions and indirect questions, before asking more personal, direct, and specifying questions, giving the interviewees time to adjust to the interview situation and feel more comfortable. Therefore, themes referring to psychological safety such as *feeling safe to speak up*, are generally approached in the second half of the interview.

At all times, it is necessary to create an environment, in which the interviewees can feel comfortable and encouraged instead of pressured to open up and to reflect on their personal experiences. Thus, engagement in a warm and accepting manner to make the interviewees feel comfortable to speak and express their thoughts and feelings is important (Tracy, 2020). As Tracy (2020) suggests, the interviewees were given sufficient time to answer and to reflect, whereas I listened actively and expressed my attention and interest verbally as well as nonverbally through nodding, eye contact, verbal reassurance, summarizing, and building on the interviewees' statements. However, when empathically engaging in the interview, interviewer bias can be amplified. Thus, by triggering sympathy through empathically engaging with interviewees, the interviewees may want to please the interviewer and engage in themes, that they perceive as beneficial for the interviewer (Alvesson, 2003). Therefore, I had to be aware of my empathic engagement and the potential consequence of steering the interviewee toward specific topics.

Reflecting on the research process, I want to point out that not only the interviewees but also the interviewer needs to be comfortable during the interviewing process to ensure the quality of the interviews. Thus, the interviews differ in quality, due to the needed time to adjust and overcome insecurities in the beginning. Therefore, the first interviews were more static and structured, whereas the last interviews were less structured, and enabled the interviewees to be freer in their responses and choice of interesting topics to focus on.

Chapter 5: Findings & Analysis

In the following chapter, the research questions are answered by presenting and interpreting the main findings using elements of the theory presented in Chapter 3. The chapter is divided into two sub-chapters, in which the research questions are answered. First, identified hinders of listening behavior in interdisciplinary project work are presented. Social Exchange Theory is used to better understand individuals' behavior in interactions. By taking a closer look at resources, costs, and rewards in interactions, how listening is hindered can be outlined. Second, the connection between listening and psychological safety will be further explored. To examine how listening contributes to psychological safety, social exchange theory allows us to gain an understanding of individuals' needs in social interaction. As feeling psychologically safe is considered as feeling safe enough to speak, it is examined how individuals' needs in interaction can be satisfied by the provision of support as a resource through listening and hence, enabling them to engage. All quotes from the interview transcripts will be presented without regard to filler words and repetitions to ensure better readability.

Hinders of listening

First, the research question "RQ1: What hinders listening in interdisciplinary project work?" is answered in the following sub-chapters. Within the interviews, multiple hinders of listening were discussed and could be identified in the empirical material. Within all identified hinders, six thematic subgroups were formed. The subgroups were formed by abductively alternating between empirical material and theory to identify and categorize extracts referring to the same phenomenon. In the following, all subgroups are listed and analyzed by presenting relevant quotes from the empirical material. Then, by using elements from social exchange theory, the various hinders of listening are interpreted and reflected upon to gain a deeper understanding of how listening is hindered.

Lack of interest and reason

The first theme arising from the empirical material is a lack of interest and reason, which hinders listening. Thus, listening does not function well, when the individual finds "the topic which is presented uninteresting". However, when individuals find a common and genuine interest in each other's discipline, listening to each other is reported to work well. An example is given by Interviewee 6, who points out that when the relationship with a person from another discipline is not based on genuine interest, but rather is characterized by seeing their knowledge and abilities as serving one's own interests, the quality of interaction including listening decreases. He states:

So, you see that a lot of research projects with engineers and cell biologists, they run really well. Bring in a clinician and the situation is very different. And that's, and now I'm a little bit exaggerating, of course, but that's because they think that engineers and biologists are there to serve them. – Interviewee 6

Consequently, when the knowledge of another person and their field is genuinely valued, and an interaction is mutually rewarding for creating knowledge, listening works well and on the same level. However, when a person from another discipline joins the interaction, who does not perceive all fields of knowledge as equally contributing, it can negatively influence the situation by shifting the focus on the "interesting" fields, which hinders mutual listening. From a social exchange theory perspective, social exchange requires interactions between actors who both find value in the interaction, so that the effort of engaging is rewarded and therefore reinforced (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Additionally, the highest satisfaction of needs is reached, when individuals possess resources that satisfy each other's needs (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Thus, when a genuine interest in a topic exists, an individual can expect to gain relevant knowledge from the interaction to satisfy their own needs, exchanging the effort of listening actively and own knowledge, for insights of the other party.

Furthermore, Interviewee 6 mentions that the name of the project pre-determines the topics that the group is going to discuss. These topics have "dominated the topic that people talk about" and are closer to some disciplines than others. Interviewee 5, whose disciplinary background and research interest align well with the project name, states that she has a natural curiosity to listen and engage. Moreover, she points out that "it's possible that others might be less interested in the topic. So, it's possible that (...) they are also less interested in the discussions and in listening than I am". Therefore, having a big overlap in one's own disciplinary background and the specific name and theme of the project supports listening and engagement,

whereas individuals with more distant disciplinary backgrounds to the project's theme encounter challenges engaging and being listened to. In this case, other team members' interest as motivation is not as evidently granted, because listening and engaging in discussions may be less frequent and strongly rewarding as for others with higher disciplinary proximity to the project theme. However, when an individual's knowledge can satisfy other members' need for knowledge, the interaction is rewarding (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959), and "friendly curiosity" as interviewee 7 describes, is experienced. As the example shows, friendly curiosity can stem from the own disciplinary background, implying that knowledge exchange within disciplinary topics is professionally motivated.

Another interviewee points out that when she is listening, she also communicates that she is interested. Moreover, she gives an example of how she is listening differently when she is not interested in the topic of discussion:

Sometimes I feel like people in this group are talking about things that might not be so relevant for the topic and I still listen. But in that case, I'm not actively encouraging them to talk more about that. Like when they're drifting away, (...) like applying methods on a completely different field, like a completely different topic, then I might say something (...). – Interviewee 5

She further explains that in such a situation she would steer the conversation back to the in her perception – relevant topic by directly saying "Oh, I'm bored with (that). I don't care about (that) (...). So, in that case, I use my listening to maybe, try to sort of get people to stop talking or, or change the sort of scope of it". From a social exchange perspective, it is evident that the interviewee perceives listening to topics, in which she shows no interest, does not bring her any reward. Instead, listening and engaging in a non-rewarding conversation is costly because she is required to use her energy as a resource for listening and interacting. Even though she points out later that she thinks these conversations are interesting discussions, the reward for engaging is not big enough to sustain further interactions (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Moreover, she tries to steer the interaction in a way, that is more rewarding for her by using her active listening to encourage, and respectively her comments to the other person as discouraging, them to continue speaking about the topic. By discouraging she brings interferences into the situation, which increases the costs of the speaker (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). However, due to the premise that individuals follow their intention to maximize rewards and decrease costs (Molm, 1997 as cited by Cook, 2015), she actively chooses and steers the discussions toward a rewarding outcome.

Interviewee 1 especially points toward missing motivation and reason to interact. He points out:

(T)he whole reason why you're doing something in a group and not by yourself is because there's something that somebody else has, that you don't have (...). So, in a sense, (...) the sort of base dynamic is realizing that the people that are involved in that project all have something that they think that they could think they can contribute to. (...) (Y)ou fundamentally have to allow people to develop something that is seen as an extension of what they're already doing and seen as enhancing what they're already doing. If it's not enhancing what they're already doing, if it's not improving something in their life already then, they're not going to take part in it.

- Interviewee 1

Likewise, Interviewee 6 points out that "when you want to have an interaction, a research interaction with someone, always think about the added value for both. So, what is in it for them?". Thus, if every member can provide resources that result in a valuable and rewarding outcome for the group, they will be rewarded by others listening to and engaging with them as well as by succeeding in project contribution. Otherwise listening is not practiced because people "don't see a reason for doing it", but not because they simply do not want to, as Interviewee 10 clarifies. He states and asks:

You're normally not listening to people, actually, I would say, but you need to have a good reason to listen to somebody. And, particularly, if you don't have a reason to listen to somebody. So, what can make you, if you don't see a reason for it, what can make you listen then? – Interviewee 10

So, if individuals can contribute to the main goal, they are given a reason to be in the project group, a reason to speak, and a motivation to speak as others are given a reason to listen. From the perspective of social exchange theory, listening is enabled when all members are needed to contribute because engaging is mutually rewarding for all parties. Then, every member can contribute to the project with resources that satisfy other's needs, which accounts for satisfactory relationships (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Moreover, the need for every team member to contribute their expertise mutually reinforces interactions, which based on the principle of reciprocity, sustains interactions, and develops relations (cf. Ekeh, 1974). The interpretation of the interviewees' statements shows that listening is motivated by the expected reward of expanding one's own knowledge in a way that is relevant to one's professional interest and contribution

to the project. Whereas active listening requires resources and accounts for costs, anticipating a positive, rewarding outcome of interaction motivates and justifies the costs of listening.

Lack of taking other perspectives

The following theme "lack of taking other perspectives" is especially connected to inter-disciplinarity, because of the need to change perspectives and let go of disciplinary boundaries in interdisciplinary collaboration (cf. Schmitt et al., 2023). Interviewee 9 summarized that listening is a key element to interdisciplinarity because "if somebody is coming at (my topic) from another perspective, then I feel I have something to learn and I do that by listening". However, sometimes "you can come across bigger egos who are married to their ideas and therefore, will not really take into account some gaps or criticism towards the idea". Then, individuals refuse to listen actively and take other perspectives into account. Therefore, there is a need for good listening skills and practices to enable interdisciplinary work (Dahm et al., 2019; Létourneau, 2021).

The consequence of not taking other perspectives into account can also hinder listening on a larger scale. The example of not considering critique to decisions by leaders was given. Interviewee 7 points out that without referring to what initially was being said, the basic requirement for communicative interactions is not met because the other person did not change their point of view. Consequently, the working ways of the group leaders were perceived to be untransparent and shifted the power dynamic in the group from being on equal levels to group members to not being able to take part in decision-making. The interviewee even described the lack of transparency of decisions, and that the leaders "didn't appreciate having their decisions being put into question" as the reason why the project work ended up not working out. Thus, not listening can put the internal climate at risk (Heide & Svingstedt, 2024) and prevent further practices of listening to each other. Additionally, the negative experiences of not being listened to, hence investing resources without receiving rewards, can impact future decisions to engage with these individuals negatively (cf. Ekeh, 1974; cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959).

However, not taking other perspectives does not have to be related to refusing to switch lenses. The interviewees also pointed out that group members tend to think within their own disciplinary boundaries, which leads them to prioritize their own perspectives instead of other views. Thus, Interviewee 6 reports that in interdisciplinary work:

(Y)ou're sort of mentally funneled (...), so all the information that you get, you relate it to your problem. So, you don't relate it to a broader perspective. No, you

relate it to what you are interested in. (...) I think it's a, it's a very logical thing to do because you get so much information, on a daily basis that you cannot process everything very wide and very open. I mean, I think it's almost a necessity to do this funneling, but if you do too much, then indeed you get stuck. You get a disbalance in how important it is that you're doing relative to what the other person is doing. And then, you get indeed this hierarchy. – Interviewee 6

From a social exchange perspective, listening to others and relating aspects that directly contribute to one's own interest is more rewarding since own ideas are enriched and problems can be solved. On the contrary, listening actively and changing perspectives requires skills (Dahm et al., 2019) and more resources, to build a base on which collaborative communication can take place (cf. O'Rourke et al., 2023). Additionally, there is a risk that the outcome may not be directly rewarding for oneself, which negatively impacts the motivation to engage (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). However, as Interviewee 6 describes, there is a risk of pushing the conversation too much into the own direction by only picking up elements that are relevant to one's own interest. This may not be rewarding and predominantly costly for the other person. Then, future interactions are at risk because social exchanges are sustained by being rewarding for all parties involved (Emerson, 1976; Ekeh, 1974).

Interviewee 6 highlights that for him the interest in hearing another perspective can decrease when he assumes that he also knows about this perspective:

So, (for) me working with professionals in their own expertise, there's no problem because (...) that's what they know, so that's what they should do. And it's more when I work with people who do things, let's say, who perform things, that I think I know also about. That's as if I don't take them serious as a professional. I think that's when problems arise. And it's a typical professor problem. – Interviewee 6

Interviewee 6 reports that the proficiency of another person as well as his own knowledge-ability in a topic are important for him to decide whether to listen or not. From a social exchange perspective, the expected outcome of an interaction with a person in a field that he expects to also know about is less rewarding than engaging with someone from another field. Thus, based on his own assumptions about the resources of the other person as well as his prediction of the outcome, motivated to anticipate a rewarding outcome by expanding his own knowledge (cf. Ekeh, 1974; cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959), he decides to not listen as well as he could.

For others, discussing within one's own field can feel instantly rewarding due to fewer resources needed and faster information exchange. Though, Interviewee 2 points out that being

productive and creative together by "completely tun(ing) in to what the other person is saying" is highly rewarding. However, it is also costly as Interviewee 4 explains:

(I) t's easier to listen to something that isn't so new to me. If you are listening to a discipline that is more far from me, it takes lots of energy to just put that in the context and to make that paradigm visible or understand that and see how it differs and what conclusion that can lead to. — Interviewee 4

Thus, the needed resources for taking other perspectives are high, but the rewards of working together using these different perspectives can be even higher so that the outcome is perceived as greatly positive. Consequently, interviewee 3 points out that "that's the important part of interdisciplinary work that, that everyone has to make that effort to actually try to understand the other's perspectives because we have so different perspectives". Therefore, active listening including asking questions can be understood as an enabler for interdisciplinary work (cf. Dahm et al., 2019), which requires more effort in terms of resources, but therefore also offers an opportunity to receive highly rewarding outcomes.

Moreover, power dynamics within the group are interfering with individuals' willingness to change perspectives. From a social exchange perspective, all individuals within the group evaluate, which interaction with which individual is expected to be the most valuable and compare it to the level of alternatives (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959; cf. Emerson, 1976). The status of individuals is one of the factors, which impact the evaluation of the outcome as resources are assigned higher values depending on the resource provider (Foa & Foa, 2012; Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Then, engaging in social exchange with individuals of higher status is expected to be more rewarding, which makes it more likely that an interrupting professor is being listened to than an interrupting junior researcher. Interviewee 4 states that hierarchies are sometimes "a blind spot". Furthermore, she explains that "you are so used to work within a field that you have different roles. You are used to have people listening to you or not". So, she explains that some people are used to being listened to due to their usual work environment, which shifts the focus of the listeners into the direction of the speaker's interests, thus, prioritizing the speaker's chances to engage in rewarding interactions.

Thus, active listening is essential to interdisciplinary work, however, it is hindered by individuals not being willing to change perspectives due to the outcome not being expected to be rewarding enough considering the heightened effort needed to actively listen outside of one's own disciplinary boundaries and expertise. Though, the next category explains that a missing

change of perspective can also stem from a lack of basic knowledge within other fields, which is needed as a premise for interdisciplinary interactions.

Lack of interactive expertise

Just like within the last category, Interviewee 1 describes that team members were thinking narrowly and in their specialized ways. However, this category exemplifies that not changing perspectives can also stem from a lack of interactive expertise. The interviewee gives a positive example of collaborating with one team member who was trained in a more boundarycrossing way in the Dutch academic system. Therefore, he believes this team member to be more "naturally amenable to talking with about things that he thought were interesting because I was doing all the interviews, that he thought would be really helpful for all the quantitative stuff that he was doing". This team member could more easily span different fields than other team members who were more narrowly focused on their own tasks and fields. So, difficulties in listening can stem from not being familiar with another method, but also from a lack of familiarity with theoretical or respectively practical thinking, as Interviewee 4 suggests. From a social exchange perspective being trained in two different fields, including learning about various approaches to collecting and explaining data, reduces the needed resources to understand each other compared to others, who are unfamiliar with different research approaches. Thus, due to the expected costs of interacting being lower, the anticipated outcome is more rewarding (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959).

Moreover, having a broader disciplinary background makes it easier to connect to various kinds of knowledge, possibly finding more rewarding ways to connect information to own knowledge in interdisciplinary discussions as well as avoiding the discomfort of leaving one's own disciplinary comfort zone. Interviewee 10 describes it as follows:

"That means that engaging in (other fields) (...) means that everybody needs to step a little bit out of their specialty, which means you're also getting out of your comfort zone a little bit. And you need to engage with a field where you're not a specialist. And that's unstable because we gravitate towards where we're comfortable." – Interviewee 10

When leaving one's comfort zone is associated with negative emotions, such as being uncomfortable or anxious, an interaction incurs high costs (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Then, engaging in the interaction and active listening to discussions within other disciplines is hindered.

Whereas narrowed thinking can stem from a prioritization of one's own field and wanting to complement own knowledge rather than immersing oneself into other fields is a choice to reduce costs, not being able to understand because of lacking knowledge is not a choice, and can be counteracted by teaching and clarifying. Interviewee 10 explained that this lacking knowledge is a lack of interactive expertise, which is needed to "know enough to talk to some-body with contributive expertise", hence, to someone who can contribute to their field.

Another interviewee explains that some team members speak a "common language" when coming from similar disciplines based on the disciplines' traditions. Thus, it is likely "that people get stuck in certain ideas and, and can't listen very well", they are "lured into, into, um, into details, which makes sense for the people within that group of four, but not for the rest. So, they're lost". Speaking in one's "own language" demands more resources from individuals from other disciplines. For them as "outsiders" it results in higher costs due to more mental effort being required to follow the discussion (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). When knowledge of others' disciplinary language is missing, and therefore interactive expertise is lacking, listening, and understanding other perspectives is hindered. Therefore, the ability to listen as a prerequisite to engage is missing.

Moreover, if it does not come naturally or has not been studied to span different disciplines in previous education, it is necessary to close gaps between different disciplinary understandings. Interviewees 5 and 3 both state that having conversations about these topics was "really helpful for clarifying (...) these different starting points and the way we think about academic work and what that means". Also, she adds that "that helped actually also to bring that curiosity and openness". So, the lack of understanding prevents listening and prevents new motivation to engage to arise, due to negative emotions incurring high costs (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). From a social exchange perspective, generating an understanding of each other's ways of understanding research enabled people to be curious and open to new perspectives again since the naturally heightened costs in interdisciplinary interactions are decreased when having interactive expertise.

Lack of prerequisites for social interactions

It was previously identified that listening can be hindered by individuals deciding to save resources and not engage for various reasons. However, not having access to needed resources can also be a reason to not engage in listening. Interviewee 4 underscores language barriers as a major obstacle to effective group communication. She expresses frustration, saying, "it gets

a little bit frustrating to even listen to me because it takes time and (...) I can't move as fluently (...) (as) when I talk in Swedish." She also voices concerns about being misunderstood due to her English proficiency, stating, "I fear to be misunderstood based on my English language skills". Moreover, she notes that the mixture of Swedish and English spoken by the majority leaves some participants feeling excluded, leading to the need for clarification, as she mentions, "some people are left out and have to ask when they do not understand". group communication. Language barriers increase the resources needed for effective communication in terms of energy to cope with negative emotions (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Then, some individuals opt out of the conversations due to the associated higher costs of energy that they must invest. In contrast, other members can fluently interact in other languages and therefore have access to the English language as a pre-requisite to engage in the project.

Time is another prerequisite for resource exchange which is limited to project work (cf. Alam & Gühl, 2016; cf. Foa & Foa, 2012). When time is scarce, listening can be hindered. Interviewee 8 describes that when she leads the discussion, she is strict in shutting it down when it moves into an unproductive direction, however, when it is "a good scientific discussion" she wants to "let them just bounce the ball from this side of the table to another" for a while to reach a potentially rewarding outcome. So, when time is available and the discussion is expected to be fruitful, a space to listen is facilitated. Also, Interviewee 6 highlights the need for time in interdisciplinarity because "you should take the time to teach people things". As understanding a completely new topic requires time and "effort from both sides", scheduling enough time to enable a basic understanding for everyone is of utmost importance. Furthermore, he stresses that when time is scarce "people get under time constraints. You cut corners. You know that you have to make a decision quickly and then you almost do it intuitively (...) and you sort of lose the rational part". Therefore, a lack of time can hinder listening to other perspectives and taking them rationally into account when making decisions or when discussing within a project. As a pre-requisite for social exchange (Foa & Foa, 2012), time is required to speak as well as to listen.

Another prerequisite for exchange which is lacking and hinders listening is energy. Interviewee 2 reports that bad sleep and a general tiredness and exhaustion "that you carry with you all the time", leads her to "zoom out" and not listen sometimes. If the prerequisites for exchange to invest resources are not available to an individual, the generation of rewarding outcomes is prevented, because social exchange is prevented (cf. Foa & Foa, 2012). In contrast to interactions with heightened costs, which require more effort, interactions that lack prerequisites for interaction prevent the chance of interacting, and hence to listening, overall. From the empirical

material, language skills, time, and energy could be identified as prerequisites for social exchange in interdisciplinary project work. A lack thereof accounts for added costs in social interactions.

Lack of functioning leadership in discussions

Extensive listening of others can help a conversation to go in an unwanted direction. To prevent this, active listening which requires understanding and questioning the content must be practiced. Therefore, communication skills, communication rules, or leading the conversations are needed to keep discussions discursive, productive, and rewarding (cf. Dahm et al., 2019; cf. Létourneau, 2021). When one person is taking up most space and time to speak in group discussions, listening within the group can be hindered. As Interviewee 8 describes, it can happen that an outspoken person is steering the conversation in one direction and speaking for a large amount of time. Moreover, Interviewee 2 reports that listening to someone or multiple people in monologues instead of a discussion makes her "frustrated" and she does not "have the patience" as these monologues are "quite tiring when people just keep going on forever". Then, she feels irritated and tired, saying "the more tired I am, the more irritated I get". Then, considering that there are only limited resources available to engage in interactions, investing resources in potentially unrewarding discussions is decided against, as it will negatively impact the overall outcome of interactions (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Due to the interviewees perceiving the result of long monologues of others as not valuable, they decide against interacting and eventually against losing resources for listening.

Regarding people speaking for a long time and not making room for others, Interviewee 6 sums up that it is not fair when people take up much time and space to speak, not only because time is scarce but more importantly because the energy of listeners is limited. To prevent one person from having "drained people's brains", he emphasizes that discussions must be led so that we do "not allow people to speak more than a certain amount of time". However, he perceives chairing discussions, where someone would "give the word instead of someone taking the word", as "undervalued". Thus, having a chairman or discussion leader, who manages available resources in the room by installing communication rules, may be necessary in a project group that is characterized by some people taking the word and others passively listening instead of interfering, questioning, and discussing. Yet, Interviewee 2 explains situations where discussions were led by raising hands and speaking in order as stressful and uncomfortable. She says that people are "waiting actively all the time" which is stressful for the facilitator of the

discussion and that people are just "stacking monologue on monologue". Interviewee 3 also reports that:

If you want to have a common process or get somewhere together if only one person is speaking, you don't get that back and forth and it could be that person speaks a lot that doesn't help the process forward and you are not allowed to interfere or ask questions. – Interviewee 3

This way of discussion leads the discussion facilitator to focus on the order of speaking, which takes away from her ability to listen actively and take part in the discussion herself. Moreover, the other group members must remember what they want to say and wait until they are allowed to speak, which takes away discourse character from the conversation. Then, the conversation is less inclusive, collaborative, and hence, not mutually rewarding for all parties, which risks ruptures due to inequality in social exchange (cf. Moreno-Cély, 202; Ekeh, 1974). As described by the interviewees, such ruptures result in the halt of listening to each other.

Interviewee 7 gives another example of poor leadership qualities regarding facilitating discussions. He states that leaders would interrupt the discussions between group members by joining the group mid-discussion. He highlights that they would be "more like questioning or stopping the process than monitoring". By facing interferences to the interaction through being interrupted additional resources are needed to continue the discussion (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959).

Interviewee 7 mentions situations of disagreement as other situations where communication rules and good leadership in discussions were missing. He describes that some situations feel like "stonewalling or just ignoring" as "the response to expect" from team members, who would actively and passively discourage people from speaking by leaving the room, not answering emails, or stating that "more talking won't be helpful". In such situations, group members accept high costs to speak up, disagree, or criticize, however, an outcome, whether positive or negative, is actively withheld from them. Consequently, further interaction between the parties eventually comes to an end, because the motivation to engage by increasing rewards and avoiding costs (Molm, 1997 as cited by Cook, 2015) is not given without any outcomes.

This theme exemplifies that a lack of functioning leadership counteracts the desired function of leadership to lead the team members and enable them to interact more easily. Instead, team members' costs of interactions are additionally heightened while they should be lowered by leaders.

Lack of psychological safety within the group

The last theme that emerged from the interviews was the lack of psychological safety within the group. When an environment is perceived to be psychologically safe, people feel free to take risks and express themselves, hence, to speak up instead of staying silent and restricting themselves due to suspected negative consequences for expressing thoughts, and ideas (Edmondson, 2019; Clark, 2020). However, when a group or an environment is not perceived as psychologically safe, individuals prefer to restrict expressing themselves. Interviewee 4 explains that:

(I)t's easier to listen to some persons in the group that have this more open, inviting way of talking (...). (T)hey want to have open discussions without this (...) personalizing, but just the subject and it's not personalized. So, then it's easier to talk and listen to them also. – Interviewee 4

Then, discussions should not be taken personally. She emphasizes that it is important in discussions to stay focused on the topic when criticizing. Otherwise, individuals can feel personally criticized or even attacked and unsafe to speak as Interviewee 4 explains. She states that "(she) can read in the group that someone want to say, for example, someone that is opposing of that, but (...) (doesn't) want to be (...) attacked. So, they are silent instead." Then, listening is difficult for her because she feels that "people are wanting to say some stuff, but they aren't of some reason. So (...) I have a hard time listening when I feel that someone is forcing the group to listening to something that they want to say (...)".

In such cases of staying silent, people choose to not risk the costs of experiencing negative emotions, that are predicted to come along with speaking up and entering the discussion due to the anticipated outcome to be negative. Thus, these situations make it impossible to maximize rewards and prevent costs, and thus, no motivation to speak is given (cf. Molm, 1997 as cited by Cook, 2015). In addition to some individuals being prevented from speaking, the internal climate can also hinder others from listening. Further connections between listening and psychological safety are mapped out in section 5.2 to answer the second research question.

Connecting listening and psychological safety

In this chapter the second research question "RQ2: How can strategic listening practices among project staff contribute to creating psychological safety in interdisciplinary projects?" is answered. In the previous chapter, the lack of other psychological safety was already identified as a barrier to listening. However, listening was also found to support the emergence of psychological safety within the group. How listening affects feeling psychologically safe in interdisciplinary project groups will be mapped out by presenting three themes, which were identified in the empirical material. By using social exchange theory to interpret the empirical material, it can be further understood how listening and feeling psychologically safe and thus, encouraged to speak and connect.

Appreciation and validation

During the interviews feeling validated was mentioned to be important when being listened to. When individuals feel listened to, they perceive their contribution is valued and is worth engaging further. In contrast, feeling not listened to or even ignored can lead to feeling a sense of invalidation. As Interviewee 10 describes:

(Collaborating interdisciplinary) means that everybody needs to step a little bit out of their specialty, which means you are also getting out of your comfort zone a little bit and you need to engage with a field where you are not a specialist. And that's unstable because we gravitate towards where we're comfortable. – Interviewee 10

Moreover, he states that people "feel secure" in their sub-specializations because "that's what you get rewarded for in your career". Hence, leaving the own field is not as associated with positive experiences as staying in the specialization. Consequently, leaving one's comfort zone, individuals tend to doubt the value of their potential contributions because they are not used to not being experts when engaging in research projects. Thus, validation may be of special importance in interdisciplinarity.

Moreover, appreciating each other's contributions may be of special importance to individuals in junior positions. Interviewee 5 highlights that due to her being a more junior researcher compared to her team members, she feels like "the others have more important things or equally important things to say and I don't feel like I need to teach them things". Thus, reinforcing engagement by mutual active listening is important to interact as equals and to

overcome the hinders of speaking due to seniority. Then, more stable social exchanges, which enable interactions to be reciprocated, are ensured (Ekeh, 1974).

Interviewee 9 exemplifies that when she is listened to she "would feel that (...) (her) research or what (...) (she has) to say is relevant and interesting". She says that "attentive listening is a sign that they are interested, get drawn into the topic and that (...) (she) probably (...) (has) something interesting to say or contribute". Moreover, she as well as Interviewee 2 explicitly mention feeling encouraged to elaborate more when she is being listened to and others are giving cues "like nodding the head or, you know, yeah, looking interested and accused. Then I would have more sort of desire to speak on the topic". Also, when the listeners verbally communicate their interest or ask questions she feels "more sort of engaged in the process". From a social exchange theory perspective, the active listening of others validates that the speaker's input is of value to them, and therefore, contributes to a rewarding outcome of the interaction. As the speaker then expects the interaction to be a rewarding process for everyone involved, she continues to engage (cf. Emerson, 1976). Interviewee 2 explains that when nonverbal cues are missing, she feels insecure and wonders if others are irritated, not interested, or want her "to stop talking". Therefore, non-verbal cues like nodding and smiling are especially important. One could also interpret nodding and smiling as a form of agreeing or, at least, not disagreeing, showing goodwill to understand each other.

Interviewee 7 points out:

(It is) easier to listen when there is mutuality if the person is listening to me and I mean, that goes for any kind of relation really. If you want (...) the other person to listen to you, you better listen to that person as well. – Interviewee 7

Thus, reciprocating listening is important to the person. As explained by Davlembayeva and Alamanos (2023) reciprocity in social exchange ensures to building of "reliable relations through the development of trust, loyalty and mutual commitment" (no page number). Reciprocity in listening means that you can trust that if you listen to others, others will listen to you, and therefore build a base on which a mutually rewarding relationship can be built. In listening to each other mutual validation, appreciation, and interest are given.

For Interviewee 4 to feel comfortable to speak and make her view "available to others" she needs "to know that they are wanting to have my definition and that that is welcomed". Thus, she wants her contribution to be valued and needs to feel the interest of others before she speaks. Then, she can make sure that her contribution will be "welcomed" and likely met with a positive reaction. Since "the degree to which the result of the exchange is valuable to a person"

(Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023 referring to Blau, 2017 and Homans, 1961) influences their decision on interaction, noticing that others actively listen and interact, it comprehensible to the speaker that the exchange is of value for others. So, if others have a desire to listen to her, she will feel that her contributions, and her resources, are of worth to others and that the interaction will have a mutually rewarding outcome.

By validating and appreciating each other through mutual listening, a positive attitude toward the speaker and their contribution is shown. An attitude of goodwill is a factor to keep the costs of an interaction low (Bonney, 1974, as cited in Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Thus, the costs of interpersonal barriers to speaking up are kept low, which also accounts for higher psychological safety within the group.

Acceptance and respect

Next, showing openness and acceptance in interactions through listening was identified as a recurring theme. For the interviewees, a welcoming and tolerant atmosphere within the group contributes to feeling psychologically safe to speak. They appreciate environments in which they can express themselves without fearing negative reactions, such as judgment, being personally attacked, or being made fun of.

For Interviewee 4 feeling accepted is especially important because of feeling insecure due to her English language skills. She states that she is "still not so safe to talk English. In Swedish, I would have participated more actively in a discussion and maybe also taking up some new topic". Thus, speaking English in discussions already comes at a higher cost for her due to the insecurity, and was amplified by negative experiences where "because of the language barrier" she was "misinterpreted and that's not so nice to be. So, (...) it's been very hard to make what I really mean come across". Having been misunderstood before, she predicts that the outcome of speaking up is more likely to be negative and costly instead of more rewarding than it could be in Swedish contributions (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Consequently, she has "become more and more quieter as the time has gone". This example highlights the importance of positive experiences of acceptance and openness, as they have the power to encourage speaking by minimizing the perceived costs of engaging.

Interviewee 3 points out that it is important that:

(E)veryone is willing to listen. I'm willing to consider (...) what the others are saying, not just, no you're wrong, but saying, okay let's take this and look at it and does it, con we run with that or not? And that has been really important, this kind

of openness and willingness to hear from my perspective and also willingness to do the same for their perspectives. – Interviewee 3

She stresses the importance of others listening actively and therefore having the feeling of her perspective being thought about, approached openly, and considered. So, when feeling heard, it leads to individuals feeling respected, and free to express themselves (Lemon, 2019; Dahm et al., 2019). Thus, the internal group climate fosters an environment in which risks by speaking up can be taken without having to fear negative consequences. However, when individuals do not feel heard and reproducing active listening behavior within the group is neglected, the positive climate, internal relationships (cf.) as well as the reciprocation of further interactions can be risked (cf. Heide & Svingstedt, 2024; cf. Davlembayeva & Alamanos, 2023).

The importance of accepting, respecting, and welcoming each other through listening can best be exemplified when looking at situations of disagreement. Interviewee 8 exemplifies that disagreeing is "about discussion. It's not to bring down someone or to insult someone". Thus, the culture of disagreement in her group is based on trust that people can disagree and still value and respect each other's opinions. Interviewee 4 concludes that in disagreement, it should be disconnected from "the personal side of a subject instead of making the subject as its own. It can be there and it's okay to talk about even the things that are hard, but it's not a mirror of me as a person". Then, the costs that facing disagreement or criticism can bring are minimized because it does not reach a personal level. Additionally, the reward, which is only reached by disagreeing and discussing, is focused. Lastly, the increased reward can serve as a motivation to further engage in discussions (Molm, 1997, as cited by Cook, 2015).

An example of unfriendly disagreement is provided by Interviewee 7 who explains that he does not feel heard or valued when he gives his opinion in a discussion, but others are not responding to his input saying "but, and then tell (him) how (he is) wrong". Instead of staying silent, Interviewee 7 decided to speak up. However, he repeatedly encountered negative outcomes at his own cost and eventually stopped expecting other rewarding responses. He exemplifies as follows:

There have been some bad experiences and people have learned to not spend time listening to some of the people in the group and also, that they have stopped believing that some people in the group would listen to them. So that's unfortunately a change in the listening patterns. This friendly curiosity (..) and the openness (are) more selective. – Interviewee 7

He explains that when other perspectives are not being considered, it is "extremely invalidating. It's like saying that those arguments are not even worth considering". Moreover, he states "(i)f nobody's talking, there's no point in listening, right? Or if nobody's listening, there's no point in talking". As experienced consequences of social interactions must meet a standard of acceptability (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959), and in this case, the reward of feeling validated by someone listening and responding to his contribution is lacking, further interactions are decided against. Moreover, it is costlier to engage across hierarchies (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). Therefore, making negative experiences with individuals in an overpowering position due to e.g. their social status or their dominance in the room can further amplify the negative effect due to the higher costs of the interaction. Consequently, people may choose not to speak and hence, to minimize costs.

A negative example by Interviewee 4 can demonstrate the connection between showing acceptance and respect through listening and psychological safety. She tells about a situation where she can feel that a group member is opposing a point in the discussion but keeps quiet to prevent being attacked. Based on previous experience the person decides to stay silent because they do not "want to put (themselves) in that position anymore. And that silenced people". We understand that in this group opposing opinions are not met with hearing each other out and accepting and respecting their perspective. Therefore, the psychological safety of individuals is rather low, leading to not expressing oneself freely.

Moreover, Interviewee 3 says that some issues where people have different views and understandings, and therefore are unlikely to agree, "can be really sensitive and difficult to speak up about". When individuals agree with another person's opinion it is a validating experience, which simultaneously reduces costs (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). In contrast, when people are likely to disagree, the costs of interaction are higher because the speaker must deal with unwanted negative emotions, which may arise when facing disagreement.

Building personal connections

Another theme, that emerged from the empirical material, is building personal connections to enhance psychological safety. When individuals approach each other as equals rather than in hierarchical constructs, communication becomes simpler. Speaking up becomes more comfortable, and trust and respect for each other can be built based on a personal connection.

Interviewees 6 and 9 stress that an open physical environment can contribute to feeling safe to speak. Interviewee red criticizes the seating arrangement in a lecture hall and points out

how it "is less inviting (to ask a question) than if you would sit in a circle". It is less open and therefore others are less focused on seeing "you as a person" but more focused on the words. Interviewee 9 reports that when meetings are held in a big room, and you do not know each other previously, "you feel more physically distant", whereas being in a small room, having coffee and pastries together feels "more like sort of people getting together to talk. (...) Iit comes naturally to ask questions". Thus, the environment can help to create a personal connection by enabling seeing and listening to each other as well as speaking more personally. For Interviewee 9 it is particularly important that you can "see the reactions" when being "much closer together physically as well", which gives her the security of being able to adjust the presentation or "do something else to get people into the conversation" when needed. Thibaut and Kelley (1959) point out that interactions with others within the same social class are less costly, which in turn makes engaging and speaking up more comfortable. Thus, when people can connect personally on the same level, such as in a smaller room where it "is not this hierarchical" as in another setting, costs can be reduced, and people can feel safe enough to speak. Then, they are given the chance to be listened to and to build valuable connections.

When a personal connection is established, the additional costs that interactions across hierarchies bring (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959), are reduced. Therefore, Interviewee 9 tells that it was easier to speak up in a group with another "famous, (...) big figure" in her discipline after they got to know each other and she could see that this person was "also very nice and welcoming (...) so that distance, that barrier has gone down somewhat and now the conversations just flow". Similarly, Interviewee 6 states "if you feel equal, if you feel yourself my equal, there's no problem because you can tell anything to me. I will listen, but you have to tell it". Thus, seeing eye to eye without hierarchies separating one another enables feeling safe to speak up.

Interviewee 5 differentiates her behavior in asking questions by stating that in her group she is unafraid to ask what potentially simple terms from other disciplines mean because she is "not expected to know anything about history" for example. Though, she "might not want to reveal (...) in a situation where (...) (she needs) to make an impression on people that don't know me that well already" that she does not know something, what could be considered "a stupid question". Hence, the personal connection that she has to the people in her group makes it easier to ask questions, regardless of the topic. So, contrary to the situation with strangers, she can trust based on the personal connection that no one would make fun of her. By having had positive experiences in the group, where others would not call her question stupid but rather "just answer and explain", the costs associated with asking a "stupid question" are minimized. Interviewee 5 highlights that the "friendly (...) and tolerant atmosphere" enables the group to

"challenge each other", "interrupt someone, or reject something that someone said". Furthermore, she explains: "I think in another setting in a group where we wouldn't know each other that well or I think some of the things that has happened in this group could have potentially led to conflict, but it doesn't happen here".

Therefore, they can take more extreme positions, provoke, and oppose in heated discussions, or as Interviewee 8 reports, tease each other, without damaging the group atmosphere with these interactions. This group does not face the restriction of social exchange, which happens due to avoiding offending each other (cf. Ekeh, 1974). Rather they can trust that the group handles provoking exchanges on a level that does not impact each other's psychological safety, and hence, does not lead to negative impacts on the speaking behavior of the group. Interviewee 5 concludes that kickoff activities such as having dinner or going on excursions "help so that you (...) know each other in a different way and then, you can speak more freely". Interacting within pre-existing relationships impacts the way that individuals assign meaning to the outcome of interactions. Having an already established base on which interactions are built in a potentially psychologically safe environment, can reduce costs from exogenous factors such as predispositions to anxiety (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). When a relationship is already established and others' behavior is more predictable, costs can be kept low due to the perceived stability and control over the interaction (Bonney, 1947, as cited in Thibaut & Kelley, 1959).

Chapter 6: Concluding Discussion

A special phenomenon in interdisciplinary project work is the need for individuals to leave their own disciplinary comfort zone, which can bring insecurity, discomfort, and instability. When not communicating in the familiar "language" of one's discipline, project members are likely to misunderstand each other, or face the need to find a common language to collaborate. Hence, interdisciplinary groups face additional challenges regarding interpersonal struggles as well as barriers to effective communication, which require additional energy to overcome (cf. Bresman & Edmondson, 2022). This thesis focuses on communication in interdisciplinary project work and aims to identify the hinders of listening as well as to understand how listening contributes to psychological safety. It is crucial to understand what hinders listening in interdisciplinary work because when listening is hindered, achieving accuracy as well as support in interactions is hindered. However, listening is required for accuracy to communicate across disciplines with a common understanding, as well as for *support*, to be encouraged and feel able to communicate across disciplines despite insecurity and uncertainty (Cooper, 1997). To enhance interdisciplinary project work, the challenges and hindrances of interdisciplinary listening must be explored so that strategic implications to release the potentially positive impacts from listening on the group can be discussed.

The results suggest that, when working in interdisciplinary project groups, multiple hinders of listening are encountered. The identified hinders of listening are a lack of interest and reason, not taking other perspectives into account, a lack of interactive expertise, a lack of prerequisites for social interactions, a lack of functioning leadership in moderating discussions as well as a lack of psychological safety within the group. The identified themes of hinders and their interpretation exemplify that listening is hindered in two different ways. Thus, the identified hinders can further be grouped into two categories: reward-driven hinders and cost-increasing hinders. (1) **Reward-driven hinders** of listening include the lack of interest and reason, as well as being unwilling to take other perspectives into account. These hinders were identified to result mostly from the individual's personal and professional interest, and goals, as well as from their attitude toward other people and topics within the project. Listening is predominantly hindered in this category because individuals expect the outcome of interacting to not be

rewarding enough given the costs that it would cause them. Hence, they decide not to listen. The lack of interactive expertise, the lack of functioning leadership, the lack of psychological safety in the group, and lacking prerequisites for social exchange, however, are (2) **cost-in-creasing hinders** of listening. In contrast to reward-driven hinders, these hinders affect individuals in their capability to listen. Therefore, they do not result from personal decisions to engage, but from external circumstances, which hinder individuals from engaging by heightening the costs of interacting. Cost-increasing hinders of listening demand more mental effort from individuals in interaction due to the hinders interfering with the interaction. Then, additional energy is needed as a pre-requisite for social exchange to compensate for the interferences.

Referring to the second research question the results suggest that active listening is a practice that contributes to psychological safety by enforcing (1) appreciation and validation of each other, (2) showing openness, acceptance, and respect, as well as (3) building personal connections. Being listened to actively communicates to the speaker that their perspectives are valued. Moreover, individuals are validated and encouraged to speak more. The listener communicates by listening actively that they are open to other perspectives, regardless of agreeing or disagreeing personally. Rather, their openness shows that everything can be expressed and will not be met with judgment, punishment, or ridicule, which is crucial for psychological safety to emerge (cf. Clark, 2020). Lastly, by listening actively and showing interest in the other individuals, a personal connection can be established, on which trust can be built, which also enables people to interact freely, and to gain a deeper understanding of each other.

Thus, listening contributes to psychological safety by creating an internal climate that is characterized by appreciation and validation, openness, acceptance, and respect as well as by contributing to building a personal connection. Then, individuals can feel free to express themselves and are invited to connect with others. By exploring how listening contributes to building psychological safety in interdisciplinary project work through a lens of social exchange theory it becomes evident, that does not only need a constant reciprocated exchange of information for effective interdisciplinary dialogue but also a growth of stable and equal relationships by exchanging mutual gestures of support.

As identified before, low team psychological safety can hinder active listening, and therefore hinder the emergence of fruitful interdisciplinary dialogue. However, the results further display that the listeners can contribute to creating a psychologically safe environment for the speaker by listening actively, decreasing the costs of interacting (cf. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959; cf. Bonney, 1947) associated with speaking. Rather, by being listened to genuinely and

actively, positive experiences can be made, based on which the speaker is likely to reevaluate the costs of engaging to be lower. Moreover, by supporting the recreation of a psychologically safe environment through listening, the cost-increasing hindrance of low psychological safety within the team can be eliminated. Thus, fostering high team psychological safety through promoting active listening to one another is of utmost importance to minimize other team members' costs of interacting. It became evident that listening to each other has a great impact on relationships between the team members and the overall climate within the project team due to the listening changing the costs of social interactions on all parties' sides.

Contributions to theory

The exploration of the two research questions clarified that listening practices can contribute to psychological safety in interdisciplinary research groups and act as an enabler for creating a project climate in which meeting each other equally, respectfully, and openly for establishing supportive relationships within the team is desired. Thus, in alignment with previous research (Castro et al., 2016; Castro et al., 2018; Itzchakov et al., 2015; Sharifirad, 2013; Itzchakov & Kluger, 2017) that quantitatively explored the relationship between listening and psychological safety. This qualitative study offers deepened insights into how listening contributes to psychological safety. Moreover, this study provides an understanding of the interdependence of listening and psychological safety by identifying low team psychological safety as a hindrance to listening and listening as an enabler for fostering psychological safety.

Additionally, a better understanding of various hinders of listening in interdisciplinary project work was gained. Approached through a perspective of social exchange theory, active listening can be understood as a prerequisite for social exchange and functioning as both, a cost due to requiring mental effort, and a reward, which is received in interaction and fulfills psychological and social needs. Listening can be considered a prerequisite for the exchange of information as resources in interactions because it enables information and support to be received. The analysis exemplifies that when listening is performed well, the costs of interactions can be minimized. However, listening encounters many hindrances in interdisciplinary project work because listening actively simultaneously causes and reduces costs. Whereas listening to others can be a reward to *them* and reduce *their* costs of speaking, listening actively demands *own* mental and physical effort from the listener, which causes costs.

Consequently, the challenge of listening in interdisciplinarity lies in ensuring a rewarding interaction for project members, so that they are willing to accept the costs of engaging in a form of mental effort to actively listen to others. A rewarding outcome can be ensured by (1) communicating reason and building motivation for team members to engage in rewarding interdisciplinary discussions, and by (2) decreasing the costs of engaging by preventing not the costs of active listening from arising, but by preventing other hinders of listening to interfere and demand additional energy. Additionally, due to active listening being energy-demanding, it is a challenge to reach the tipping point where listening begins to become easier. Then, engaging is enabled more naturally because costs are lowered, and engagement is reinforced by each other's listening. Hence, coworkers can reciprocally produce and reproduce a climate that is characterized by active listening and psychological safety. Active listening can therefore be considered as a strategic investment of effort to build a base on which other's costs are minimized, positive outcomes are increased, and social exchange of information as well as support in fruitful interdisciplinary dialogue is enabled.

Implications for practice

Project leaders and internal communicators must be aware of the reciprocal relationship between active listening and psychological safety in project groups. Since introducing the concept of psychological safety to the group was not found to increase team psychological safety (cf. Dusenberry & Robinson, 2020), promoting active listening by discussing rules of project communication can be a key to unlocking psychological safety due to the contribution of active listening practices to psychological safety. To enable active listening it is moreover necessary to find strategies to minimize cost-increasing hinders and to motivate team members to listen by communicating rewarding reasons to engage in the project. Due to active listening competing with hinders to listening for project members' energy as a prerequisite to engaging, mental energy must be made available by decreasing the costs and enhancing the outcome of listening to foster active listening in interdisciplinary project work.

Whereas taking each other's perspective is inevitable for interdisciplinary discourse, it is also a needed skill for effective listening (Heide & Svingstedt, 2024; Dahm et al., 2019), which is beneficial for all kinds of project work. To ensure inclusive communication across disciplines, and thus, across traditions, Moreno-Cély's (2021) listening-based framework of the circle of dialogue of wisdom can be an approach to accept the co-existence of knowledge systems, to avoid power and subjectivities reducing the possibilities of an inclusive dialogue, and to prevent imposing own ideas by letting go of thinking in own disciplinary boundaries.

Overall, the results suggest that in practice, the costs of engaging in social exchange must be reduced to enable people to interact in interdisciplinary project work. As previously identified, external hinders to listening can be minimized by reducing the heightened costs of interacting resulting from these hinders. Therein, functioning leadership plays a key role, as it connects to all identified external hindrances. Leaders can actively support shaping a project culture, which values the diversity of interdisciplinarity and the various perspectives within. Consequently, functioning leadership and management of interdisciplinary project work can also support balancing out unevenly distributed power by making a variety of perspectives heard, fostering interactive expertise as the needed knowledge to interact, and to actively listen to new perspectives. Furthermore, project leaders can provide some of the prerequisites for social exchange such as spaces and timeslots to meet, which are available and inviting to connect with each other. As previous research suggests, leaders also play an important role in fostering psychological safety (Pounsford et al., 2024; Edmondson, 2019; Heide & Svingstedt, 2024) and team psychological safety (Edmondson, 1999). However, as the results suggest, listening from coworkers within the group also contributes to fostering a psychologically safe environment. Therefore, leaders must also use their position to counteract external hinders, reducing externally induced costs of interacting, to foster team psychological safety as well as a functioning and productive project environment.

A psychologically safe project climate supports overcoming barriers to listening as well as speaking up. In alignment with Dusenberry and Robinson (2020), interviewees report an enhanced climate and being more confident to speak compared to the starting phase of the project, which speaks for the emergence of psychological safety improving with time spent together. Hence, taking time to build relationships, is of utmost importance at the beginning of project work to decrease the costs of interacting with each other. Especially in interdisciplinary work, where individuals seem particularly different from one another, it is beneficial to provide time and space to genuinely understand each other's fields and interests.

During the interviews, it became evident that internal project communication was not discussed at the beginning of the project work. Thus, group discussions would not follow any communication rules, which can lead to certain individuals overpowering others, hindering active listening, and getting lost in energy-demanding but unproductive discussions. Also, the task of moderating discussions in the group was criticized. Therefore, good leadership in interdisciplinary projects can help to facilitate interdisciplinary and inclusive discourse by minimizing barriers to participation and freeing resources to invest in fruitful interactions. Furthermore, leaders can help to establish a listening culture by practicing active listening themselves.

Moreover, leaders, who actively listen can contribute to psychological safety (Pounsford et al., 2024; Edmondson, 2019; Heide & Svingstedt, 2024) and to coworkers' well-being (Jónsdóttir & Fridriksdottir, 2019; Sharifirad, 2013). Consequently, leaders should function as role models and strategically use their position to support fostering a listening culture that lowers the costs of interaction within the project by listening themselves. Then, reciprocating listening can be a facilitator of further engagement, and a basis to grow mutual trust and psychological safety, which ensures that costs of engagement are kept low.

Suggestions for further research

This study highlights that listening in connection to psychological safety must be explored on a coworker level to ensure reinforcing a group climate which is in favor of facilitating psychological safety to enhance successful project work outcomes as well as project work experiences. It became evident that the way that project members listen to each other has a great impact on relationships and the overall climate within the group. Since research focusing on listening from a coworker perspective is sparse, further research should explore the impacts of listening on coworker behavior and well-being. Moreover, how psychological safety can be fostered by coworker behavior should be explored in organizational settings to improve organizational cultures to benefit employees' mental health needs. The identified ways of listening contributing to psychological safety can further be explored quantitatively to explicitly research the effects of appreciation, validation, respect, and openness, through listening on feeling psychologically safe in project work. Lastly, due to the importance of strategic listening practices for effective interdisciplinary work, how a listening culture can be fostered in interdisciplinary settings is worth exploring, both from a coworker perspective as well as through the lens of leadership in interdisciplinary settings.

Reference List

- Agarwal, U. A., & Anantatmula, V. S. (2023). Psychological safety effects on knowledge sharing in project teams. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 70(11), 3876–3886. https://doi.org/10.1109/tem.2021.3087313
- Alam, M. D., & Gühl, U. F. (2016). Introduction. In Springer eBooks (pp. 1–10). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-52944-7 1
- Alvesson, M. (2003). Methodology for close up studies struggling with closeness and closure. Higher Education, 46(2), 167–193. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1024716513774
- Anwar, M. Z., Muafi, Widodo, W., & Suprihanto, J. (2023). Consequence of psychological distress on performance achievement: A social exchange theory perspective. Intangiblecapital/Intangible Capital, 19(2), 93. https://doi.org/10.3926/ic.2128
- Andersson, R., Heide, M., & Simonsson, C. (2023). Digital corporate communication and internal communication. In Handbook on Digital Corporate Communication. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing. (pp. 18–33). https://doi.org/10.4337/9781802201963.00011
- Bordogna, C. (2023). Using social exchange and equity theory to explore postgraduate student mentoring initiatives and academic faculty participation. International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education, 12(2), 128–144. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijmce-04-2022-0031
- Brandt, D. (2021). Hierarchical and Role-Based differences in the perception of organizational listening effectiveness. International Journal of Business Communication, 60(4), 1341–1367. https://doi.org/10.1177/23294884211055839
- Bresman, H. & Edmondson, A. C. (2022, March 17). Research: To excel, diverse teams need psychological safety. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2022/03/research-to-excel-diverse-teams-need-psychological-safety
- Brunner, B. R. (2008). Listening, Communication & Trust: Practitioners' Perspectives of Business/Organizational Relationships. International Journal of Listening, 22(1), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/10904010701808482
- Burr, V. (2015). Social Constructionism (3rd ed.). https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315715421

- Cappelli, P. & Eldor, L. (2024, January 3). Can workplaces have too much psychological safety? Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2024/01/can-workplaces-have-too-much-psychological-safety
- Carucci, R. (2024, January 18). How leaders fake psychological safety. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2023/12/how-leaders-fake-psychological-safety
- Castro, D. R., Kluger, A. N., & Itzchakov, G. (2016). Does avoidance-attachment style attenuate the benefits of being listened to? European Journal of Social Psychology, 46(6), 762–775. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2185
- Castro, D. R., Anseel, F., Kluger, A. N., Lloyd, K. J., & Turjeman-Levi, Y. (2018). Mere listening effect on creativity and the mediating role of psychological safety. Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts, 12(4), 489–502. https://doi.org/10.1037/aca0000177
- Cely, A. M., Cuajera-Nahui, D., Escobar-Vasquez, C. G., Vanwing, T., & Tapia-Ponce, N. (2021). Breaking monologues in collaborative research: bridging knowledge systems through a listening-based dialogue of wisdom approach. Sustainability Science, 16(3), 919–931. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-021-00937-8
- Clark, T. R. (2020). The 4 stages of Psychological safety: Defining the Path to Inclusion and Innovation. Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Cook, K. S. (2015). Exchange: social. International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences, 8(2), 482–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-097086-8.32056-6
- Cooper, L. O. (1997). Listening Competency in the workplace: a model for training. Business Communication Quarterly, 60(4), 75–84. https://doi.org/10.1177/108056999706000405
- Dahm, R., Byrne, J., & Wride, M. A. (2019). Interdisciplinary communication needs to become a core scientific skill. BioEssays, 41(9). https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201900101
- Davlembayeva, D. & Alamanos, E. (2023). Social Exchange Theory: A review. In Papagiannidis, S. (Ed), TheoryHub Book. ISBN: 9781739604400
- DeMarree, K. G., Chang, Y., Lee, T., & Venezia, A. C. (2023). Listening and attitude change. Current Opinion in Psychology, 53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2023.101641

- Dusenberry, L., & Robinson, J. (2020). Building psychological safety through training interventions: Manage the team, not just the project. IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication, 63(3), 207-226. https://doi.org/10.1109/tpc.2020.3014483
- Edmondson, A. C. (1999). Psychological safety and learning behavior in work teams. Administrative Science Quarterly, 44(2), 350–383. https://doi.org/10.2307/2666999
- Edmondson, A. C., Bohmer, R. M., & Pisano, G. P. (2001). Disrupted routines: team learning and new technology implementation in hospitals. Administrative Science Quarterly, 46(4), 685–716. https://doi.org/10.2307/3094828
- Edmondson, A. C. (2019). The fearless organization. creating psychological safety in the workplace for learning, innovation, and growth. John Wiley & Sons.
- Edmondson, A. C., & Nembhard, I. M. (2009). Product development and learning in project teams: the challenges are the benefits. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 26(2), 123–138. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5885.2009.00341.x
- Emerson, R. M. (1976). Social exchange theory. Annual Review of Sociology, 2(1), 335–362. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.so.02.080176.002003
- Emerson, R. M. (1987). Toward a Theory of Value in Social Exchange. In: Cook, K. S. (1987). Social Exchange Theory. SAGE publications.
- Fenniman A. (2010). Understanding each other at work: An examination of the effects of perceived empathetic listening on psychological safety in the supervisor-subordinate relationship (Doctoral dissertation). Washington, DC: George Washington University.
- Fleming, W. J. (2024). Employee well-being outcomes from individual-level mental health interventions: Cross-sectional evidence from the United Kingdom. Industrial Relations Journal, 55(2), 162–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/irj.12418
- Foa, E.B., Foa, U.G. (2012). Resource Theory of Social Exchange. In: Törnblom, K., Kazemi, A. (eds). Handbook of Social Resource Theory. Critical Issues in Social Justice. Springer, New York, NY. https://doi-org.ludwig.lub.lu.se/10.1007/978-1-4614-4175-5_2
- Gallo, A. (2023, Feb 15). What Is Psychological Safety? Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2023/02/what-is-psychological-safety

- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (2017). The discovery of grounded theory. In Routledge eBooks. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203793206
- Gube, M. & Sabatini Hennely, D. (2022, Aug 25). Resilient Organizations Make Psychological Safety a Strategic Priority. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2022/08/resilient-organizations-make-psychological-safety-a-strategic-priority
- Hanitzsch, T., Markiewitz, A., & Bødker, H. (2024). Publish and perish: mental health among communication and media scholars. Journal of Communication. https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/jqae012
- Heide, M. (2024). Social constructionist theory. In: Podnar, K. (ed.). Elgar Encyclopedia of Corporate Communication. Edward Elgar Publishing eBooks. ISBN 978 1 80220 086 7
- Heide, M. & Svingstedt, A. (2024). Strategic Listening: How Managers, Coworkers, and Organizations Can Become Better at Listening (1st ed.). Productivity Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003413486
- Hennink, M. and Kaiser, B.N. (2022), "Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research: a systematic review of empirical tests", Social Science and Medicine, Vol. 292, 114523, doi: 10.1016/j. socscimed.2021.114523.
- Huo, B., Liu, X., & Li, S. (2023). The impact of justice on information sharing and innovation performance: a social exchange theory perspective. Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 38(11), 2519–2532. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbim-04-2022-0179
- Itzchakov, G., Castro, D. R., & Kluger, A. N. (2015). If you want people to listen to you, tell a story. International Journal of Listening, 30(3), 120–133. https://doi.org/10.1080/10904018.2015.1037445
- Itzchakov, G., & Kluger, A. N. (2017). Can holding a stick improve listening at work? The effect of Listening Circles on employees' emotions and cognitions. European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 26(5), 663–676. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2017.1351429
- Jain, A., Fennell, M. L., Chagpar, A. B., Connolly, H., & Nembhard, I. M. (2016). Moving toward improved teamwork in Cancer Care: The role of Psychological Safety in Team communication. Journal of Oncology Practice, 12(11), 1000–1011. https://doi.org/10.1200/jop.2016.013300

- Jónsdóttir, I. J., & Fridriksdottir, K. (2019). ACTIVE LISTENING: IS IT THE FOR-GOTTEN DIMENSION IN MANAGERIAL COMMUNICATION? International Journal of Listening, 34(3), 178–188. https://doi.org/10.1080/10904018.2019.1613156
- Kahn, W. A. (1990). Psychological Conditions of Personal Engagement and Disengagement at Work. The Academy of Management Journal, 33(4), 692–724. https://doi.org/10.2307/256287.
- Kluger, A. N., & Itzchakov, G. (2022). The power of listening at work. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 9(1), 121–146. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012420-091013
- Kriz, T. D., Jolly, P. M., & Shoss, M. K. (2021). Coping With Organizational Layoffs: Managers' Increased Active Listening Reduces Job Insecurity via Perceived Situational Control. JOURNAL OF OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH PSYCHOLOGY, 26(5), 448–458. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000295.
- Lemon, L. L. (2019). The employee experience: how employees make meaning of employee engagement. Journal of Public Relations Research, 31(5-6). 176-199. https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2019.1704288
- Létourneau, A. (2021). Some challenges of interdisciplinarity. Language and Dialogue, 11(1), 107–124. https://doi.org/10.1075/ld.00086.let
- Lewis, L.K. (2011). *Organizational Change*. John Wiley & Sons. DOI:10.1002/9781444340372
- Lewis, L. (2022). Strategic organizational listening. In *Research Handbook on Strategic Communication*. Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781800379893.00022
- Lloyd, K. J., Boer, D., Keller, J. W. & Voelpel, S. (2015). Is My Boss Really Listening to Me? The Impact of Perceived Supervisor Listening on Emotional Exhaustion, Turnover Intention, and Organizational Citizenship Behavior. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 130. 509-524. DOI 10.1007/s10551-014-2242-4
- Macnamara, J. (2016). The Work and 'Architecture of Listening': Addressing Gaps in Organization-Public Communication. International Journal of Strategic Communication, 10(2), 133–148. https://doi-org.ludwig.lub.lu.se/10.1080/1553118X.2016.1147043

- Mantler, J., Tulk, C., Power, N., Simkin, S., Boateng, H., & Bourgeault, I. (2021). Mental Health, Accommodations, and Leaves of Absence in Academia. Retrieved April 9, 2024, from https://www.healthyprofwork.com/academia/#preliminary-findings
- March, K.G., Aplin-Houtz, M.J. & Lawrence, U.E. (2023). Mutual Benefits: Delving into Leader-Member Exchange (LMX) and Pay Dynamics with Social Exchange Theory. Employ Respons Rights J. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10672-023-09490-1
- Men, L. R., Zhou, A., & Tsai, W. S. (2022). Harnessing the power of chatbot social conversation for organizational listening: The impact on perceived transparency and organization-public relationships. Journal of Public Relations Research, 34(1–2), 20–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726x.2022.2068553
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). Qualitative research: A Guide to Design and Implementation. John Wiley & Sons.
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Interdisciplinary. In Merriam-Webster.com dictionary. Retrieved April 23, 2024, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/interdisciplinary.
- Neill, M. S., & Bowen, S. A. (2021). Ethical listening to employees during a pandemic: new approaches, barriers and lessons. Journal of Communication Management, 25(3), 276–297. https://doi.org/10.1108/jcom-09-2020-0103
- Nembhard, I. M., & Edmondson, A. C. (2006). Making it safe: the effects of leader inclusiveness and professional status on psychological safety and improvement efforts in health care teams. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 27(7), 941–966. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.413
- Nembhard, I. M., Yuan, C. T., Shabanova, V., & Cleary, P. D. (2015). The relationship between voice climate and patients' experience of timely care in primary care clinics. Health Care Management Review, 40(2), 104–115. https://doi.org/10.1097/hmr.0000000000000017
- O'Rourke, M., Rinkus, M.A., Cardenas, E., McLeskey, C. (2023). Communication Practice for Team Science. In: Gosselin, D. (eds). A Practical Guide for Developing Cross-Disciplinary Collaboration Skills. AESS Interdisciplinary Environmental Studies and Sciences Series. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-37220-9 5

- Place, K. R. (2022). Toward a Framework for Listening with Consideration for Intersectionality: Insights from Public Relations Professionals in Borderland Spaces. Journal of public relations research, 34(1-2). 4-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2022.2057502
- Pounsford, M., Ruck, K., & Krais, H. (2023). Leading the listening organisation. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003367031
- Rogers, C. R. (1953). Some directions and end points in therapy. In O. H. Mowrer, Psychotherapy: theory and research. Ronald Press Co.; Ronald Press Company. pp. 44–68. https://doi.org/10.1037/10572-002
- Sahay, S. (2023). ORGANIZATIONAL LISTENING DURING ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE: PERSPECTIVES OF EMPLOYEES AND EXECUTIVES. International Journal of Listening, 37(1), 12–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/10904018.2021.1941029
- Schmitt, J. B., Goldmann, A., Simon, S. T., & Bieber, C. (2023). Conception and Interpretation of Interdisciplinarity in Research Practice: Findings from Group Discussions in the Emerging Field of Digital Transformation. Minerva, 61(2), 199–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11024-023-09489-w
- Simbula, S., Margheritti, S., & Avanzi, L. (2023). Building Work Engagement in Organizations: A Longitudinal Study Combining Social Exchange and Social Identity Theories. Behavioral Sciences (2076-328X), 13(2), 83. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs13020083
- Tangirala, S., & Ramanujam, R. (2012). ASK AND YOU SHALL HEAR (BUT NOT AL-WAYS): EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MANAGER CONSULTATION AND EMPLOYEE VOICE. Personnel Psychology, 65(2), 251–282. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2012.01248.x
- Thibaut, J. W., & Kelley, H. H. (1959). The social psychology of groups. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315135007
- Törnblom, K., Kazemi, A. (2012). Some Conceptual and Theoretical Issues in Resource Theory of Social Exchange. In: Törnblom, K., Kazemi, A. (eds) Handbook of Social Resource Theory. Critical Issues in Social Justice. Springer, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-4175-5 3
- Tracy, S. J. (2020). Qualitative research methods: collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact (2nd edition). Wiley-Blackwell. ISBN: 978-1-119-39080-0

- Tucker, A. L., Nembhard, I. M., & Edmondson, A. C. (2007). Implementing New Practices: An Empirical Study of Organizational Learning in Hospital Intensive Care Units. Management Science, 53(6), 894–907. http://www.jstor.org/stable/20122252
- Tynan, R. (2005). The effects of threat sensitivity and face giving on dyadic psychological safety and upward communication1. Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 35(2), 223–247. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2005.tb02119.x
- Walden, J.A. (2021). Enhancing Employee Well-Being Through Internal Communication. In: Men, L.R., Tkalac Verčič, A. (eds.) Current Trends and Issues in Internal Communication. New Perspectives in Organizational Communication. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78213-9
- Wong, B. & Greenwood, K. (2023, October 10). The Future of Mental Health at Work Is Safety, Community, and a Healthy Organizational Culture. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2023/10/the-future-of-mental-health-at-work-is-safety-community-and-a-healthy-organizational-culture
- Wong, B., Varley, T. & Parmar, S. (2023, Sep 14). How to Support New Workiers' Mental Health. Harvard Business Review.
- Worthington, D. L. & Bodie, G. (2023). External Stakeholders' Conceptualizations of Organizational Listening: A Conceptual Replication of the Revised Listening Concepts Inventory. In: Place, K. R. (eds). Organizational Listening for Strategic Communication.

 Routledge, New York. DOI: 10.4324/9781003273851

Appendix A: Interview Guide

General information about the interview & interviewee

Interviewee	
Date, Time & Location	

Introduction to the interview

Thank you for agreeing to having this interview with me. Your insights will help me with my study about **the role of listening in interdisciplinary project work.**

The interview is scheduled to last circa 45 minutes. As mentioned in the form of consent that I already sent you, I will record the conversation in order to transcribe and analyze the interviews. I will handle the recording with care, store it separately on a hard drive, and delete it after finishing the study. Only I will have access to the data.

All the information you share with me is confidential and every statement will be anonymized in the thesis.

Do you have any further questions about the process or the form of consent before starting the interview?

If I have your consent, I will begin with the recording now.

Questions

Introduction / Overall project communication

- 1. Can you shortly describe which kind of project you are working in and what your role is within it?
 - How does the structure of the project look like?
 - What is the goal of the project?
 - o Teams/Hierarchies? Role of project coordinator? Dynamics?
 - Communication platforms
 - o Language?
- 2. Can you tell me a bit about the **project meetings**? What are they like?
 - Communication with others
 - o Communication challenges? Why? What makes it challenging?

Psychological safety

- 3. Can you tell me about your experience with speaking up in project work? (when and why are you speaking up? How do others respond?)
 - Motivation for speaking
 - O How does your disciplinary background impact the way you communicate in the theme work?
 - How may the disciplinary background of other group members impact them?
 - Situations that make you comfortable speaking up? (what do they look like? what makes you feel like you can speak up/say anything?)
 - What about these situations makes you comfortable?
 - Situations where you don't feel comfortable speaking your mind?
 (what do they look like?)
 - Criticizing?
 - Asking for help/clarification?
 - Why?
 - Thoughts before speaking
 - o In an ideal scenario: How would you wish others would behave when you speak up)

Feeling heard

- O What makes you feel heard?
- o What makes you feel not heard?

Listening

- 4. Can you tell me something about listening in your project work? (discussed before? Awareness of listening?)
 - Which role does listening play in interdisciplinarity?

You

- o How does the listening of others impact you?
- o How do you think does your listening impact others?
- Do you feel like it's easier to listen to some project members than others? Why?

Good listening

- o When does listening work well? When doesn't it?
- o In which situations are you focused on listening?
- o What are your reasons for listening?

No listening

- o When are you not listening?
- o For what reasons are you not listening?
- O What hinders listening?

Conclusion

- Is there a difference in listening practices within the group now compared to when you started?
- What changed?
 - How do you think can a project group and/or project leaders facilitate environments that promote listening?
 - How do you think can a project group and/or project leaders facilitate environments that promote expressing oneself?

Appendix B: Information Sheet and Consent Form

Informed Consent for Participating in a Research Interview Information about the research

Project Title	Understanding strategic listening in interdisciplinary project work	
Purpose of the Study	The purpose of this research is to understand the role of strategic listening in interdisciplinary project work. The method of semi-structured qualitative interviews will be used to explore the research topic.	
	I am inviting you to participate in this research project because you can give valuable insights on the researched topic based on your experiences collaborating in interdisciplinary project work.	
Procedures	 The procedures involve an interview of circa 45-60 minutes online on Zoom. The interview will be conducted in English. The researcher takes written notes during the interview as well as record the interview. Only the researcher has access to the recording. The recording will immediately be deleted after transcription. The interview will be transcribed and can, if required, be sent to the interviewee. To ensure anonymity, the term "interviewee #" will be used within the transcription. The transcriptions will be stored on an external hard drive which can only be accessed by the researcher. All data will be handled confidentially. After approval of the study, the data will be deleted. The study will only be published on the database for student papers of Lund University. 	

Potential Risks	No potential physical or psychological risks could be identified.	

Terms of participation

- 1. I have received sufficient information about the research project and I understand the purpose of my participation in the research project.
- 2. I participate in the interview voluntarily and free from any means of coercion. There are no direct benefits from participating.
- 3. I understand and agree to the procedure of the interview.
- 4. I have the right to withdraw from the participation in the research project at any time.
- 5. I have the right to not answer and skip any questions without having to give a reason.
- 6. I have been informed about the anonymity and confidentiality of the information discussed in the interview. The researcher has informed me to not identify me by name in any documents deriving from the interview including the final report. Further use of the data will be subject to the data protection policy at Lund University.
- 7. I have the right to withdraw my consent at any time without giving an explanation by contacting the researcher.

Please keep this document for your ow	n record.
If you have any questions, or want to w	rithdraw from the research project, please contact me via
e-mail or phone:	
I,	, agree to participate in a research study led by
Christine Helling (researcher) from L	und University, Campus Helsingborg. This document
confirms that I have read and agreed to	the terms of participation in the study.
Date	
2- 4112	Signature
	DISTANCE